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I. INTRODUCTION 

After conning thousands of Americans into maxing out their credit cards to 

enroll in his sham “university” – including hundreds of senior citizens who need that 

money for their retirement – defendant Donald J. Trump whines this class action is not 

“fair” to him.  Dkt. 192-1 (“Def’s Mem.”) at 2.  At the risk of stating the obvious, it is 

Trump’s own illegal enterprise, which for years preyed on Americans down on their 

luck during the Great Recession, that is to blame for this class action – not his student-

victims, not the lawyers representing them, and certainly not this Honorable Court. 

Trump’s decertification motion parrots the same invalid objections to class 

certification that this Court and the Ninth Circuit have already rejected in this case and 

the related Low action.  Those objections have not improved with time or repetition.  

The “new” evidence that Trump cites as justification for his motion is re-packaged 

testimony from the same few opt-outs whose sworn declarations he trotted out without 

success in opposing certification.  And his “star” witnesses include Marla Colic, who 

was committed to a “psych[] ward” while enrolled at Trump University (“TU”), and 

Michelle Gunn who attended after the name was changed to Trump Entrepreneur 

Initiative (“TEI”) and provided a declaration shortly after Trump endorsed her son’s 

book.  Ms. Gunn also “appears to be a professional testimonial-giver for [seminars].”  

See Ex. 17.  That these opt outs now express their views in a deposition rather than a 

declaration is not the kind of sea change that requires decertification.  Further, all but 

one chose to opt out, rendering their individual issues irrelevant.  Finally, given that 

they comprise half of all dozen opt outs nationwide, they are also statistically 

insignificant – representing at most 0.16% of all students. 

In contrast, there remain over 7,600 Class Members who have not opted out and 

whose interests this Court has appointed plaintiff Art Cohen to represent.  Many of 

them are still struggling years later with the debt that they incurred because they made 

the mistake of trusting Trump.  It is on their behalf that plaintiff urges this Court to 

maintain this case as a class action and get it to trial before it is too late. 
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II. CORRECTIONS TO DEFENDANT’S “BACKGROUND” 

The Court is aware of the facts and procedural history of this case so plaintiff 

does not repeat it in its entirety here.  See, e.g., Dkts. 220 at 2-8 & 39-1 at 3-13.  

Plaintiff does wish to point out, however, that defendant’s “Background” focuses on 

everything except the actual issue in the case – his scheme.  See Def’s Mem. at 3-4.  

Defendant’s relentless effort to deflect blame by chiding plaintiff for not working hard 

enough to achieve success rather than addressing his illegal conduct speaks volumes. 

Instead of reinventing the wheel, plaintiff will simply recite the factual 

background from the Court-approved class notice for this case and related Low: 

In both actions, Plaintiffs allege that Trump University and Trump 
uniformly marketed and misrepresented their Live Events as offering 
Trump’s real estate techniques taught by his hand-picked professors and 
adjunct professors at his elite “university.”  Plaintiffs allege that these 
representations were false because Trump had no substantive 
involvement in the selection of the Live Events instructors or the content 
of the Live Events, and that the New York State Education Department 
warned Trump not to use the “university” title or to continue operating 
without a license, but he defied those directives. 

Dkts. 71-1, Ex. A & 130 at 9.  This is what this class claim is actually about. 

And this claim is quintessentially a class one.  That is why this Court granted 

certification of a claim under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act 

(“RICO”) over the objection of defendant (Dkt. 53), which he asked the Ninth Circuit 

to review to no avail (Dkt. 59).  More recently, in Low, the Court bifurcated and 

decertified restitutionary damages so that the defendants there could seek individual 

offsets based on students’ subjective valuations.  See Low Dkt. 418. 

III. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS 

Decertification of a class “should theoretically only take place after some 

change, unforeseen at the time of the class certification, that makes alteration of the 

initial certification decision necessary.”  In re Apple iPod iTunes Antitrust Litig., No. 

05-CV-0037 YGR, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 165254, at *17 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 25, 2014).1  

                                           
1 Internal citations and quotation marks as well as objections in deposition 
transcripts are omitted and emphasis is supplied, unless otherwise noted. 
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Thus, courts deny decertification where the movant fails to allege a “significant 

intervening event.”  See Knapp v. Gomez, No. 87-0067-H(M), 1991 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

11012, at *3 (S.D. Cal. June 26, 1991) (citing Langley v. Coughlin, 715 F. Supp. 522, 

553 (S.D.N.Y. 1989)). 

“In considering the appropriateness of decertification, the standard of review is 

the same as a motion for class certification:  whether the Rule 23 requirements are 

met.”  Stiller v. Costco Wholesale Corp., 298 F.R.D. 611, 622 (S.D. Cal. 2014) 

(Curiel, J., presiding).  Once the Court has undertaken its rigorous analysis to certify a 

class, however, the burden of proof should shift to the party advocating decertification 

to “demonstrat[e] that an element of Rule 23 is not satisfied.”  Id.  This shift precludes 

defendant from “requiring that a court and its adversary revisit an earlier decision . . . 

without any showing whatsoever.”  See 3 William B. Rubenstein, et al., Newberg on 

Class Actions §7:39 (5th ed. 2014) (“Newberg”).  After all, it is defendant who filed 

the motion and will get the benefit of a reply brief.  As is true for all pre-trial motions 

and at trial, the party who bears the burden of proof gets to speak first and last.  Thus, 

defendant’s burden to justify decertification should be “heavy,” as “doubts regarding 

the propriety of class certification should be resolved in favor of certification.”  Stiller, 

298 F.R.D. at 622 (quoting Gonzales v. Arrow Fin. Servs. LLC, 489 F. Supp. 2d 1140, 

1154 (S.D. Cal. 2007), aff’d, 660 F.3d 1055 (9th Cir. 2011)). 

Defendant interprets Marlo v. UPS, Inc., 639 F.3d 942 (9th Cir. 2011), as 

holding that “the burden remains on the plaintiffs” for decertification.  Def’s Mem. at 

6.  In Marlo, however, the Ninth Circuit discussed the parties’ burdens in the context 

of the district court’s sua sponte call for briefing on decertification after it “became 

increasingly concerned that individualized issues may predominate over class-wide 

issues.”  Marlo v. UPS, 251 F.R.D. 476, 479 (C.D. Cal. 2008).  Further, Marlo made 

only an “ancillary reference to burden” without “squarely addressing the issue.”  

Apple, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 165254, at *17; see also Newberg §7:39 (“the Circuit’s 

decision does not engage the issue directly”).  Accordingly, though there appears to be 
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a split of authority in the wake of Marlo, many courts in this Circuit continue to 

rightfully place the burden on the defense to justify decertification.  See, e.g., Cole v. 

CRST, Inc., No. EDCV 08-1570-VAP (SPx), 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48940, at *4 

(C.D. Cal. Apr. 1, 2016) (holding “[t]he party seeking decertification bears the burden 

of demonstrating that the elements of Rule 23 have not been established”); Stiller, 298 

F.R.D. at 622 (“the party moving for class decertification . . . bears the burden of 

demonstrating that an element of Rule 23 is not satisfied”). 

Regardless of whether defendant ultimately bears the burden on his motion, 

certification remains appropriate here. 

IV. DEFENDANT PROVIDES NO GOOD REASON TO DISTURB THIS 
COURT’S WELL-REASONED CERTIFICATION ORDER 

Defendant limits his arguments to three previously made – and rejected by this 

Court – that Rule 23(b)(3) predominance is not met due to individual questions about: 

(1) the statute of limitations (“SOL”); (2) causation/reliance; and (3) damages 

determinations.  Defendant does not assert any other Rule 23 requirement is lacking 

and adds nothing new of substance to his renewed bid to oppose certification.  To the 

contrary, his motion reinforces that maintaining a class is the only sensible way to go. 

A. The Liability Elements of Plaintiff’s RICO Claim Still Raise 
Common Questions with Common Answers 

Trump’s decertification motion is built around the fiction that “common 

questions are virtually nonexistent.”  Def’s Mem. at 1.  To buttress this fallacy, 

defendant misrepresents the very issues of the case, framing the underlying questions 

as ones that involve whether “Trump University” – not him as the defendant – made 

certain misrepresentations and whether students sustained damages.  See id.  In doing 

so, defendant focuses on his hypothetical defenses instead of plaintiff’s actual claim. 

But as the Supreme Court held just a few months ago: 

The predominance inquiry “asks whether the common, aggregation-
enabling, issues in the case are more prevalent or important than the non-
common, aggregation-defeating, individual issues.”  When “one or more 
of the central issues in the action are common to the class and can be 
said to predominate, the action may be considered proper under Rule 
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23(b)(3) even though other important matters will have to be tried 
separately, such as damages or some affirmative defenses peculiar to 
some individual class members.” 

Tyson Foods, Inc. v. Bouaphakeo, __U.S.__, 136 S. Ct. 1036, 1045 (2016).  In 

assessing predominance, the Court focuses on the elements:  “Considering whether 

‘questions of law or fact common to class members predominate’ begins, of course, 

with the elements of the underlying cause of action.”  Erica P. John Fund, Inc. v. 

Halliburton Co., 563 U.S. 804, 809 (2011) (cited in Tyson Foods, 136 S. Ct. at 1046).  

Ultimately, “[p]redominance is a question of efficiency.”  Butler v. Sears, 702 F.3d 

359, 362 (7th Cir. 2012).  “If common questions ‘present a significant aspect of the 

case and they can be resolved for all members of the class in a single adjudication,’ 

then ‘there is clear justification for handling the dispute on a representative rather than 

on an individual basis.’”  Low Dkt. 298 at 18.  As such, predominance is readily met 

in certain cases alleging consumer fraud.  See Amchem Prods. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 

591, 625 (1997); In re First Alliance Mortg. Co., 471 F.3d 977, 990 (9th Cir. 2006). 

Going back to basics here, the elements of plaintiff’s RICO claim are:  Trump’s 

“‘(1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of racketeering activity.’”  

Dkt. 21 at 5 (quoting Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 496 (1985)).  

Plaintiff must also show harm as a result.  See id.  “‘Racketeering activity’ . . . 

include[es] the predicate acts alleged by Plaintiff in this case: mail fraud, 18 U.S.C. 

§1341, and wire fraud, 18 U.S.C. §1343.”  Id.  For each liability element, plaintiff and 

“every class member would prove them with the same evidence, and the answer 

would be the same as to each class member.”  Dkt. 39-1 at 18.  “For example, Trump 

either did or did not ‘conduct’ the Trump University enterprise.”  Id. (citing Reves v. 

Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 179 (1993)).  “[T]his element, as well as the remaining 

three, must be proved (or not) through common proof about Trump’s relationship vis-

à-vis Trump University, not individual student-victims.  Therefore, both the proof and 

the answer as to each element will be the same as to each student-victim.”  Id. 
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Focusing on these actual elements, instead of the issues Trump concocted, it is 

clear that trying this case once is far more efficient than trying it 7,600 times.  See 

Butler, 702 F.3d at 362.  Trump has not shown common questions about his scheme 

are any less significant now than in 2014.  Nor could he.  Just because these are 

questions he would rather not have answered does not mean they are less important in 

2016.  These questions alone are sufficient to deny his motion for decertification. 

B. Decertification Is Not an Opportunity for a “Do-Over” 

Instead of raising new issues, defendant’s motion re-hashes his opposition to 

class certification.  But “do-overs” are not allowed.  See, e.g., Apple, 2014 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 165254, at *18 (“Apple presented many of these arguments while opposing 

earlier certification motions. . . .  Nevertheless, the Court declines to revisit this 

previously resolved issue so soon before trial especially where no intervening events 

have led to changed circumstances.”); Chavez v. Blue Sky Nat’l Beverage Co., No. C 

06-06609 JSW, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 109738, at *25 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 27, 2011) 

(denying motion to decertify where defendants re-hashed class certification); Iorio v. 

Allianz Life Ins. Co. of N. Am., No. 05CV633 JLS (CAB), 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

118344, at *84 (S.D. Cal. July 8, 2008) (rejecting attempt at decertification to 

“resurrect[] the same deposition testimony” cited in opposing class certification). 

Here, defendant repeats the same arguments that this Court already considered 

and rejected at the class certification stage.  See Dkt. 53 at 11.  These are the same 

arguments defendant makes now.  Def’s Mem. at 1-2 (summarizing arguments).  But 

in certifying the Class, this Court undertook a rigorous review of the evidence, the 

law, and the parties’ arguments.  See, e.g., Dkt. 53 at 4-5.  And after undertaking such 

a rigorous analysis, the Court was satisfied that plaintiff had, indeed, met his burden.  

See id. at 22-23.  The Ninth Circuit refused to consider reversing this Court’s finding.  

See Dkt. 59.  And in the intervening period since then, nothing has changed. 

In fact, close inspection of defendant’s “new” evidence shows “there is no there 

there.”  See Gertrude Stein, Everybody’s Autobiography at 298 (1937).  Of the “37 lay 
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witness depositions” that defendant says took place since class certification (Def’s 

Mem. at 1), defendant relies almost exclusively on opt-outs Mette Nielsen, Marla 

Rains Colic, Meena Mohan, and Michelle Gunn, and absent class member Paul 

Canup, whose testimony echoes declarations submitted with defendant’s opposition to 

class certification.  See Dkt. 45-1, Exs. 7, 9, 10, 12, 15, 19.  This evidence is hardly 

“new.”  See Donovan v. Philip Morris USA, Inc., No. 06-12234-DJC, 2012 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 37974, at *27 (D. Mass. Mar. 21, 2012) (“The argument raised here in support 

of the decertification motion is an echo of the argument made in opposition to the 

plaintiffs’ certification motion . . . and is one that the Court has already rejected.”).  

And Amy H. has since disavowed her declaration, which the defense duped her into 

signing before she knew about the fraud.  See, e.g., Ex. 1, Amy H. Tr. at 69:20-72:22.2 

C. Defendant’s Arguments Are Even Weaker Now as His “Die 
Hards” Have Since Opted Out of the Class 

Not only does defendant have little new to say, but his arguments are weaker 

than before because virtually all of the testimony cited comes from the mouths of a 

handful of former TU and TEI students who, to the extent that they were even class 

members before, are no longer part of the Class at all because they chose to “opt out.” 

As the Supreme Court holds, those who opt out of a class action are “removed 

from the litigation entirely.”  Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 810-11 

(1985); see also Newberg §9:39 (“Once an individual opts out of a class action, she is 

excluded entirely from the suit. That means she has no standing to participate in the 

suit or . . . to object to any proposed settlement or appeal.”); accord Cruz v. Sky Chefs, 

Inc., No. C-12-02705 DMR, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 68560, at *14-*15 (N.D. Cal. 

May 19, 2014) (same); Morris v. Affinity Health Plan, Inc., 928 F. Supp. 2d 805, 811-

12 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (“The efficiency afforded by the class action procedure would be 

poorly served if numerous class members were permitted to opt out of the class and 

                                           
2 Here, and throughout, unless otherwise noted, references to “Ex.” are to the 
Exhibits attached to the  Declaration of Rachel L. Jensen, filed concurrently herewith. 
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then remain in the litigation with supposedly resurrected individual claims.”), aff’d, 

558 F. App’x 51 (2d Cir. 2014).  Opt-outs are “no longer considered class members” 

and have no standing under Rule 23 for any purpose.  See Newberg §13:23. 

Accordingly, courts certify Rule 23(b)(3) classes despite the existence of 

outliers, reasoning that any disaffected class members may simply opt out of the class.  

See, e.g., Bertulli v. Indep. Ass’n of Cont’l Pilots, 242 F.3d 290, 298 (5th Cir. 2001) 

(emphasizing that “dissatisfied class members have the right to opt out of the class”); 

In re Nat’l W. Life Ins. Deferred Annuities Litig., 268 F.R.D. 652, 658 (S.D. Cal. 

2010) (certifying class despite defendant’s submission of class member declarations 

stating they were satisfied).  Once these individuals opt out, they are no longer part of 

the litigation and thus their testimony is irrelevant to the class members’ claims.  See, 

e.g., Waters v. Int’l Precious Metals Corp., 172 F.R.D. 479, 489 (S.D. Fla. 1996) 

(“[I]n light of the Court’s decision to restrict the trial to common issues only, the 

testimony of opt-outs and the brokers on the issue of reliance is irrelevant.”). 

Here, all but one of the “students” upon which defendant relies chose to opt out, 

and the other intends to do so.3  See Ex. 2, Colic Tr. at 14:6-22; Ex. 3, Gunn Tr. at 

15:10-16; Ex. 4, Mohan Tr. at 27:1-12; Ex. 5, Nielsen Tr. at 8:22-9:16; Dkts. 154, 

165-66 (opt-outs).  In addition, Gunn attended the Fulfillment after the name change 

to TEI so she was never a class member (Ex. 3, Gunn Tr. at 48:10-12); she provided 

her declaration shortly after Trump agreed to endorse her son’s book (Ex. 6); and she 

“appears to be a professional testimonial-giver for [seminars].”  Ex. 17.  Mohan’s 

testimony related mostly to phone coaching, which is not a “live event.”  See Ex. 4, 

Mohan Tr. at 231:8-17.  And, the star witness of defendant’s motion, Colic, was 

committed to a “psych[] ward” while in TU (Ex. 2, Colic Tr. at 89:8-11) and she 

received free products for supporting Trump’s defense in the Low case.  Ex. 7 (TU 

155015-16).  None of these individuals can speak for the Class.  As each removed 

                                           
3 Colic and Nielsen testified under oath that they were “opting out,” and since his 
deposition, Canup has also indicated that he wishes to opt out of the Class. 
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herself from the litigation, she cannot be used as a pawn by Trump to manufacture 

individual issues.  See Shutts, 472 U.S. at 810-11; cf. Morris, 928 F. Supp. 2d at 811-

12 (“The efficiency afforded by the class action procedure would be poorly served if 

numerous class members were permitted to opt out of the class and then remain in the 

litigation with supposedly resurrected individual claims.”).  Besides, it is clear these 

outliers are not representative.  Of all 7,600 Class Members, only a dozen opted out.  

See Dkts. 154, 166.  Even ignoring that these are individuals are irrelevant, they are 

statistically insignificant as they represent at most 0.16% of all students.  Their 

aberrant views should be ignored. 

D. The Common Sense Inference Still Makes Perfect Sense 

Trump argues that the common sense inference is no longer valid by reviving 

the same invalid objections he always had.  In both this case and in Low, he has 

previously argued – like he does again now – that the student-victims who enrolled in 

“Trump University” are diverse and chose to sign up for myriad reasons unrelated to 

either Trump or the “university.”  Compare, e.g., Def’s Mem. at 3-4, 18, with Dkt. 45 

at 3, 11, 16-20, and Low Dkt. 138 at 1-2, 17.  The Court has rejected these arguments 

multiple times and should not hesitate to do so again here. 

1. The Court Has Already Considered and Rejected 
Defendant’s Recycled Argument 

Defendant’s “diverse walks of life” argument is misguided as it would prevent 

any consumer class from being certified and places undue emphasis on the victims of 

the scheme rather than defendant’s scheme itself.  See Low Dkt. 195 at 1.  Indeed, the 

Court has already considered this argument – here and in Low – and rejected it twice 

as unpersuasive.  See Dkt. 53 at 12; Low Dkt. 298 at 21.  As the Court aptly put it: 

Here, Plaintiff’s theory of causation is that people who paid for 
“Trump University” Live Events “would not have done so if informed 
they were getting neither Trump nor a university.” Plaintiff has 
introduced evidence that the alleged misrepresentations of a “university” 
and of Donald Trump participation in the Trump University Live Events 
were prominently featured in all Trump University marketing materials; 
and that a “Playbook,” Powerpoint presentations, and scripts encouraged 
if not required Trump University representatives to continue these 
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representations.  The Court finds that this evidence provides a method 
for Plaintiff to establish proximate causation on a classwide basis 
without resort to individualized inquiries, by relying on a common sense 
inference that consumers are likely to rely on prominently marketed 
features of a product which they purchase. 

Dkt. 53 at 13-14.  Likewise, the Court has distinguished the primary case upon which 

Trump relies, Poulos v. Caesars World, Inc., 379 F.3d 654 (9th Cir. 2004): 

Here, the Court finds that, unlike gambling, purchasing real estate 
seminars is not the type of consumer activity that is susceptible to wide-
ranging behavioral rationales.  Furthermore, unlike in Poulos, Plaintiff 
has introduced evidence that Defendant marketed the Trump University 
Live Events with prominent pictures and quotes from Defendant as well 
as the allegedly ubiquitous use of the name “Trump University” as well 
as a coat of arms and educational language.  The Court is satisfied that 
Plaintiff has produced evidence of uniform marketing of the alleged 
misrepresentations such that a common sense link between the 
misrepresentations and putative class members’ reliance on those 
representations is appropriate. 

At the hearing on the present motion for class certification, 
Defendant argued he is entitled to mount a defense on the issue of 
causation, and that his defense would require individualized inquiries 
into whether each putative class member relied on the alleged 
misrepresentations. The Court finds this argument unpersuasive. Because 
the Court finds that an inference of reliance is appropriate in this case, 
the inference may only be rebutted by evidence that can be properly 
generalized to the class as a whole. 

Dkt. 53 at 15-16.  And the Court rejected defendant’s other main case, In re 

Countrywide Fin. Corp. Mortg. Mktg. & Sales Practices Litig., 277 F.R.D. 586, 605 

(S.D. Cal. 2011), in which defendant had explained essential loan terms to borrowers: 

The evidence showed that [in Countrywide] the defendant’s loan officers 
described their loans “from start to finish,” and “explained in detail the 
pros and cons of the [product at issue].” Here, on the other hand, 
Defendant has not demonstrated any such transparency on the part of 
Defendant or Trump University such that it may be inferred that putative 
class members had knowledge of the alleged misrepresentations yet 
chose, for other reasons, to purchase [TU] Live Event programs. 

Dkt. 53 at 14. 

The only new case cited by defendant hails from a district court outside this 

Circuit and is factually distinguishable.  See Def’s Mem. at 21 (citing St. Gregory 

Cathedral Sch. v. LG Elecs., Inc., No. 6:12-cv-739, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 127063 

(E.D. Tex. Sept. 23, 2015)).  In St. Gregory, the defendant sold HVAC units to 
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distributors with allegedly misleading marketing materials about their quality.  See 

2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 127063, at *4-*5.  Some distributors subsequently sold the 

units to consumers, while others sold further down distribution channels.  See id. at 

*5.  Plaintiffs were consumers, some of whom never received the marketing materials.  

See id. at *16.  There, the court recognized the Fifth Circuit’s unique “strong 

skepticism” against an inference of reliance in RICO cases.  See id. at *13.  And the 

court had ample reason to doubt plaintiffs’ reliance on the materials because defendant 

had sent them to distributors and not the plaintiffs.  See id. at *16. Based on that 

critical fact, the court found the misrepresentations “may not have made it all the way 

down the distribution channel” to plaintiffs.  See id.  Here, in contrast, the Court has 

found evidence that defendant’s misleading ads were “prominently featured in all 

Trump University marketing materials; and that a ‘Playbook,’ PowerPoint 

presentations, and scripts required Trump University representatives to continue these 

representations” to plaintiff and Class Members nationwide.  See Dkt. 53 at 13. 

2. Defendant’s Evidence Is Neither New Nor Requires 
the Court to Abandon Common Sense 

In addition to citing old law, defendant’s “new” evidence is anything but.  

Though Trump claims recent testimony changes the analytical landscape, it is the 

same as what he proffered in opposing certification in arguing that the “record” of 

student evaluations, testimonials, and declarations “show[ed] great variety” and 

“confirm[ed] that students had very different reasons to attend TU.”  Dkt. 45 at 3. 

Indeed, all five “students” that defendant cites – Colic, Canup, Gunn, Mohan, 

and Nielsen – provided declarations in opposition to class certification.  See Dkt. 45-1, 

Exs. 7, 10, 12, 15, 19.  Four are opt outs and one intends to opt out.  See §IV.C.  And 

the six alternative rationales Trump claims are new (Def’s Mem. at 19-20) – (1) “to 

gain real estate knowledge;” (2) “to network;” (3) to obtain “higher quality” 

experience; (4) “to learn subject matter referenced at a preview;” (5) to avoid 

“‘danger[]’” in real estate market; and (6) “to generate income” – were the same as in 
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his class certification opposition.  See Dkt. 45 at 18-19 (quoting students in support of 

the same six reasons).  In fact, the “new evidence” that students wanted to “gain real 

estate knowledge” is what opt-out Gunn expressed before as a desire for “continuing 

to learn.”  Compare Dkt. 45 at 18-19 (quoting Gunn), with Def’s Mem. at 19 (quoting 

Gunn).  Defendant’s “new” evidence is a rerun of evidence that was not a hit even the 

first go around. 

Defendant also says students were motivated by something different from 

Trump’s involvement:  the Trump “brand.”  This Court already rejected this 

distinction without a difference.  See Dkt. 45 at 18 (defendant arguing students had 

brand-related rationales, such as “I understood that Donald Trump had put his name 

on the business and that was enough for me”); Dkt. 53.  Trump intended to influence 

plaintiff and the Class to enroll with his personal promises.  See Ex. 8, DJT Tr. at 

388:4-9, 391:17-392:7.  And TU’s marketing materials prominently featured Trump 

and his personal promises.  See Dkt. 53 at 13.  In case it is not obvious, Dr. Michael 

Kamins, Ph.D., opined that TU ads were “intertwined with Mr. Trump” and “linked to 

his personal characteristic[s]” by including first-person promises such as “I can turn 

anyone into a successful real estate investor, including you” and “learn my strategies 

and techniques.”  Ex. 9, Kamins Tr. at 182:11-12, 184:21-185:2.  Defendant’s rebuttal 

experts (whose opinions are based on the same “student” testimony cited by 

defendant) also concede Trump’s involvement influenced students’ to enroll.  See Dkt. 

184-2, Ex. 6 (Steckel Rpt. at 18); Dkt. 184-2, Ex. 1 (McDuff Rpt. at 47-48, Ex. B-3).  

Steckel acknowledged Trump’s celebrity “fit” TU’s product category and thus led to 

“increased sales.”  Dkt. 184-2, Ex. 6 (Steckel Rpt. at 18).  Similarly, McDuff’s chart 

summarizing deponents’ “[r]easons for [p]urchase” shows every Class Member listed 

“Trump brand name,” “Trump secrets,” “Trump handpicked,” or “Accreditation” as 

influencing their decision.  See Dkt. 184-2, Ex. 1 (McDuff Rpt. at 47-48, Ex. B-3). 

Even the “opt-outs” do not separate the brand from the man as Mr. Trump was a 

motivating factor for each.  See Ex. 2, Colic Tr. at 136:1-4 (“[Q.] So in -- you chose 
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Trump University in part because of Donald Trump’s association with it, correct? [A.] 

Yeah, I would state that. Yeah.”); Ex. 10, Canup Tr. at 25:8-14 (“[Q.] Did Donald 

Trump ever make any representations to you, either in writing or on the CDs, about 

what would be taught at the Trump University preview seminar? [A.] I don’t 

remember any details. . . .  But he always stressed education and learning from the 

best.”); Ex. 3, Gunn Tr. at 174:10-19 (“[Q.] When you got this mailer and it had the 

lion and . . . ‘Donald Trump’ on it, was . . . his involvement . . . a positive . . . ? 

[A.] Yes.”); Ex. 5, Nielsen Tr. at 62:16-19 (“Certainly because his name is in it 

‘Donald Trump’ and he has a certain space in real estate, like I said, to begin with, that 

got my attention.”); 69:3-7 (“Q. Did you have an expectation that [Trump] had met 

with James Harris [TU’s instructor]? [A.] I’m thinking he almost must have.”). 

Given that defendant cannot challenge the prominence and efficacy of his own 

self-promotion, he is forced to misconstrue the evidence.  For example, defendant 

turns on its head Kamins’ survey by arguing it shows 10% of students purchased for 

unrelated reasons.  See Def’s Mem. at 20.  To the contrary, the survey reinforces the 

appropriateness of the common sense inference as 90% of respondents (i.e., 

individuals who indicated a desire to enroll after viewing ads) are conscious of having 

been influenced positively by promises of “Donald Trump’s real estate strategies and 

techniques” and “professors hand-picked by Donald Trump.”4  Dkt. 184-2, Ex. 8 

(Kamins Rpt. Ex. 4 at 3).  These results are more “evidence that class members paid 

for TU seminars for reasons that track the advertising and promotional information 

provided in the highly orchestrated campaign.”  Low Dkt. 298 at 22.  And given the 

questions’ phraseology, others may have been attracted due to Trump’s involvement 

or university moniker – but it does not prove a negative, and still others may not be 

                                           
4 And the greater the interest, the greater the likelihood that a respondent was 
positively impacted by the opportunity to learn Trump’s strategies from his 
handpicked professor.  See Dkt. 184-2, Ex. 8 (Kamins Rpt. at 46-47). 
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conscious that Trump’s involvement influenced them.  See Ex. 13 at TU 53033 

(PlayBook: “[T]he point of decision is always emotional, and usually subconscious.”). 

When the sleight of the hand is removed, defendant’s arguments all fall short 

for the same reason – while students are driven by varying motivations, as people in 

life always are, defendant has not a shred of evidence that any actual Class Member’s 

motivation was antagonistic to the prominent marketing themes at issue.  In other 

words, defendant cannot point to anyone who enrolled despite his involvement or 

university moniker.  And no student knew Trump was operating illegally so defendant 

cannot establish a lack of reliance on his “university” ruse.  See Bias v. Wells Fargo & 

Co., 312 F.R.D. 528, 541 (N.D. Cal. 2015) (certifying RICO claim; “presumption of 

reliance is appropriate in a case involving primarily omissions because of the 

‘difficulty of proving a speculative negative – that the plaintiff relied on what was not 

said’”) (quoting Binder v. Gillespie, 184 F.3d 1059, 1063-64 (9th Cir. 1999)). 

3. Defendant Is Grasping at Straws for Any “Evidence” 
of Individual Issues of Reliance and Causation 

Jumping to an alternate universe where the common-sense inference no longer 

applies, defendant claims that, in such a realm, individual questions of causation and 

reliance predominate.  But he has nothing to back it up.  Instead, he cites to random 

pieces of evidence that fail to undercut the common issue.  For example, he says 

Sonny Low did not see the Main Promotional Video (see Def’s Mem. at 22), but that 

is because Low arrived late to the Preview, not because it was not played, and he did 

rely on the same claims in the ads he saw.  See, e.g., Ex. 11, Low Tr. at 31:5-18.  

Moreover, a stray reference by an instructor to TU as a “company” does nothing to 

pull back the curtain on Trump’s illicit “university.”  See Def’s Mem. at 22.  And, if 

instructor Goff randomly told a student he was hired by Mr. Sexton, that does not 

preclude him from simultaneously lying about being hand-picked by Trump, which is 

what he did.  See Ex. 12, Goff Tr. at 181:6-18 (“Q. . . . And, again, you were just 

following what you were told to say in this recording, right?  That Donald Trump had 
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personally picked you? A. That’s correct. Q. And just to follow up, you’ve – you’ve 

never met Trump, right? A.  No. Q.  So it’s not true that he picked you?  A.  Yeah, it’s 

true he didn’t handpick me, no.”).  The PlayBook also required instructors to be 

falsely introduced as handpicked.  See Ex. 13 at TU 53041.  In any event, the claims 

track prominently-marketed features so students may rely thereon.  Dkt. 53 at 13. 

Even if defendant, at some point, found a Class Member (not an opt-out or non-

class member) who swears on a stack of Bibles that he would have spent tens of 

thousands of dollars knowing full well TU was an illegal operation taught by conmen 

paid on commission instead of Trump’s handpicked professors and adjunct professors 

teaching his techniques, decertification would still be inappropriate.  See Dkt. 53 at 15 

(inference based on uniform marketing of TU, which could only be rebutted “by 

evidence that can be properly generalized to the class as a whole”); Nat’l W., 268 

F.R.D. at 659, 664-66 (finding “[c]onsumers are nearly certain to rely on prominent 

(and prominently marketed) features of a product which they purchase”; certifying 

class despite “satisfied” class member declarations; and rejecting argument that the 

diversity of the class meant individualized issues of reliance would predominate). 

E. Trump’s SOL “Defense” Is Hopelessly SOL 

1. Trump’s SOL Argument Is Another Rerun 

As he did in opposing class certification, Trump argues that this Court should 

decertify the Class based on a hypothetical SOL defense that some students may have 

discovered the fraud earlier.  Compare Def’s Mem. at 6-17, with Dkt. 45 at 8-11.  

Addressing these points again is like being stuck in the film “Groundhog Day.”  

Plaintiff already explained why defendant’s SOL defense is subject to common proof 

and answers (Dkt. 46 at 5-9), and this Court considered the parties’ submissions and 

rejected these arguments.  Dkt. 53 at 16-19.  This Court’s decision remains on point. 

Defendant attempts to put a new gloss on his arguments by citing: (1) additional 

articles, blogs, and online posts complaining TU was a scam (Def’s Mem. at 9-10, 16-

17); (2) other documents about Trump’s favorite target, Tarla Makaeff (id. at 10-11); 
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and (3) testimony of several opt-outs (id. at 11-14).  First, the articles and online 

reviews cited are easily dispatched as they are the same type of complaints about TU’s 

upselling that defendant previously argued established inquiry notice, see Dkt. 45 at 7-

8, to no avail.  Dkt. 53 at 17-18.  This time around, Trump shoots himself in the foot 

by arguing for purposes of this motion that students were put on inquiry notice by 

these articles, while simultaneously contending in his summary judgment motion that 

he was blissfully ignorant of his own fraud due to “positive student reviews.”  

Compare Dkt. 180-1 at 23 (emphasis omitted), with Def’s Mem. at 16-17 & n.11.  If 

“Plaintiff cannot turn a blind eye to the obvious,” neither can he.  Def’s Mem. at 16. 

Second, defendant made the same arguments about Makaeff in opposing class 

certification.  See Dkt. 45 at 9-10.  That she contacted other students, read bad 

reviews, and complained elsewhere along the same lines changes nothing.  See Def’s 

Mem. at 11.  She still did not know Trump was completely absent or his university 

was illegal, until after her attorneys’ investigation and discovery revealed those facts.5  

In any event, defendant is estopped from arguing the SOL bars Makaeff’s claim as he 

has stipulated that Makaeff is “eligible to take part in any class recovery in the Cohen 

action, if any, based on the current class definition.”  Low Dkts. 389 at 3 & 394 at 1-2. 

Third, the testimony of a few opt-outs proves nothing as they have no claims 

against Trump that could be subject to a SOL defense.  See, e.g., Cruz v. Sky Chefs, 

Inc., No. C-12-02705 DMR, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 68560, at *14-*15 (N.D. Cal. 

May 19, 2014) (“Any Class Member who submits a valid and timely opt out notice 

shall no longer be a member of the Class . . . .”).  This testimony is also not “new” as 

it echoes their earlier declarations.  See Dkt. 45 at 18.  And no student knew Trump 

lied about his involvement or it was an illegal enterprise then.  As Mohan testified: 

Q. . . . And you’re not aware that the New York State Education 
Department told Donald Trump in 2005 that it was illegal to use the 
“university” title? 

                                           
5 Even so, the documents defendant cites are after October 18, 2009, within the 
limitations period.  See Dkt. 192-2, Ex. 37 (email dated 12/16/09); Dkt. 192-2, Ex. 27 
(complaint dated 4/30/10); Dkt. 192-2, Ex. 28 (amended complaint dated 9/ 26/12). 
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A. No, I didn’t. 

Q. And you’re not aware that Trump defied that directive from the 
New York State Education Department for five years? 

* * * 

Q. And you’re not aware that’s the real reason that they changed the 
name? 

[A.] No. 

Ex. 4, Mohan Tr. at 168:13-169:8; Ex. 3, Gunn Tr. at 156:16-157:15; Ex. 5, Nielsen 

Tr. at 158:24-159:11; Ex. 10, Canup Tr. at 226:21-227:24; Ex. 1, Amy H. Tr. at 

116:19-118:2.  And Canup believed that Trump was substantively involved: 

Q. . . . Did anyone tell you, for example, that Donald Trump would 
be writing the curriculum for the wealth preservation seminar that was 
part of the Gold Elite package? 

[A.]  No.  As a matter of fact, they emphasized that -- that Donald 
Trump’s involvement was selecting people that were experienced in 
their – in specific specialties for real estate investing and that it was 
their experiences that were being presented. 

* * * 

Q. During the three-day program, was there any additional 
explanation of the selection or vetting process for the instructors or 
mentors that we talked about a few minutes ago?  Did Mr. Martin make 
any further representations about that? 

A. Not that I recall other than Donald Trump’s vetting process was 
very thorough.  No details on that. 

Ex. 10, Canup Tr. at 43:2-44:6.  Even Colic knew Trump promised his secrets: 

Q. Do you recall any representations made by Trump University that 
you would be learning Donald Trump’s personal real estate secrets? 

A. Well, I don’t think his secrets are really secrets. But I think 
somebody said something about that. 

Ex. 2, Colic Tr. at 108:23-109:2.  Trump has the audacity to suggest “all a student had 

to do to learn the nature of Mr. Trump’s involvement in TU was ask an instructor.”  

Def’s Mem. at 14.  This ignores the fact that instructors followed scripts with 

fabricated stories about their social dinners with Trump and perpetuated such lies as 

“what [Donald Trump] knows about real estate you will learn when you become part 
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of Trump University.”  Ex. 14 at TU 154668.  TU’s most prolific speaker (and ex-

con), James Harris, promised Trump would be their friend too.  Ex. 15 at TU 99267. 

None of the testimony cited by defendant proves that any Class Member was on 

notice of the utter failure of Trump to deliver on his promises or the material omission 

about the legitimacy of his university, which he failed to disclose was operating 

illegally during the entire class period.  Trump has failed to show that his SOL defense 

is likely to raise any individual issues that will predominate over the common ones. 

2. Trump’s SOL Argument Remains Hypothetical 

Trump acknowledges this “Court correctly held that the presence of potential 

statute-of-limitations issues does not, alone, defeat class certification” (Def’s Mem. at 

7), but goes on to rehash his hypothetical SOL argument.  But as one court put it: 

Because the legal effect of Safeway’s affirmative defenses has not 
yet been established, questions of law or fact common to class members 
continue to predominate over any questions affecting only individual 
members.  Safeway puts the cart before the horse by asking the Court to 
decertify the class when the Court has not even resolved whether those 
class members who continued to use Safeway’s online shopping service 
after learning of the markup waived their right to recover or otherwise 
consented to the markup. . . . The Court’s position, stated in its 
certification order, has not changed: these legal determinations can be 
made on a classwide basis and the Court can then, if necessary, 
subdivide the class as appropriate. 

Rodman v. Safeway Inc., No. 11-cv-03003-JST, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 65255, at *9-

*10 (N.D. Cal. May 14, 2015). 

Here, any way that one looks at it, it is obvious Trump’s SOL defense is merely 

a hypothetical one.  One need not look any further than Trump’s motion for summary 

judgment – filed the same day as this motion – to confirm that fact.  Of all the reasons 

that Trump contends this Court should grant summary judgment, the SOL is 

completely MIA.  See Dkt. 180-1.  Given Trump has no actual SOL defense as to any 

actual plaintiff, all he can muster is an even weaker version of the hypothetical 

argument he lost at the class certification stage.  See Dkt. 45 at 1, 4, 6-8.  In 

abandoning his SOL argument on summary judgment, Trump concedes it has no legs. 
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3. Defendant Mischaracterizes the Standard for Notice 

Trump also mischaracterizes the law as to what is required to put plaintiff on 

notice.  For example, defendant cites to O’Connor v. Boeing N. Am., Inc., 92 F. Supp. 

2d 1026 (C.D. Cal. 2000), but the Ninth Circuit overruled that decision, holding 

instead a plaintiff’s “suspicion of a causal link [is] insufficient.”  See O’Connor v. 

Boeing N. Am., Inc., 311 F.3d 1139, 1148 (9th Cir. 2002).  Thus, defendant is dead 

wrong to assert the plaintiffs in O’Connor were on notice because they “suspected” 

that the contamination caused his lymphoma.  Def’s Mem. at 8 (emphasis in original). 

Moreover, defendant’s citation to three district court decisions from O’Connor 

v. Boeing N. Am., Inc., to argue individual SOL issues can defeat certification is 

unavailing as that case presented a very rare scenario worlds away from the facts of 

this case.  See Def’s Mem. at 7-8 (citing 184 F.R.D. 311 (C.D. Cal. 1998); 92 F. Supp. 

2d 1026 (C.D. Cal. 2000); 197 F.R.D. 404 (C.D. Cal. 2000)).  There, plaintiffs alleged 

that defendant released radioactive contaminants into their community over a 50-year 

period, causing property damage, cancer, and death.  See 184 F.R.D. at 317.  The 

court wrestled with the feasibility of defining a class on several points, such as the 

boundaries of the affected area, variance and indeterminate nature of injuries among 

class members, and the lengthy class period.  See id. at 319-20, 327, 329.  Despite 

these difficulties, the court certified three separate classes.  Id. at 342.  Thereafter, the 

court granted summary judgment against some class members after substantial 

evidence of notice, including plaintiff declarations, public studies demonstrating 

injury, and examples of “aggressive” media coverage.  See 92 F. Supp. 2d at 1042, 

1047.  Thereafter, defendants brought a motion to decertify the class.  197 F.R.D. 404.  

The court granted the motion, noting “the significant impact of the summary judgment 

order” and the “individualized, fact-intensive nature of the necessary inquiry in this 

case.”  Id. at 411, 414.  The court listed “several factors that varied from individual to 

individual,” including the “residency history of each Plaintiff” and noted that “no one 

factor was determinative of the ultimate result.”  Id. at 411.  In sum, O’Connor 
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presented complexities and individual issues not present here, such as unverifiable 

injuries, a 50-year class period, and summary judgment against some class members 

but not others.  Trump does not come close to demonstrating that this case is one of 

those “rare” instances in which SOL issues could warrant decertification.  See Tait v. 

BSH Home Appliances Corp., 289 F.R.D. 466, 486 (C.D. Cal. 2012). 

Finally, defendant argues that decertification is necessary when fraud 

allegations involve affirmative misrepresentations (Def’s Mem. at 8), but this ignores 

this Court’s class certification order and others like it.  See, e.g., Schramm v. 

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., No. LA CV09-09442 JAK (FFMx), 2011 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 122440, at *1, *31 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 19, 2011) (granting certification in a case 

involving affirmative misrepresentations).  In any event, whatever students thought 

“university” meant, it was not an entity that was so unqualified that authorities warned 

Trump it was illegal to call it a “university” and yet he defied that directive for the 

entire class period.  In other words, “university” is a fraudulent omission as well. 

4. The SOL Was Tolled Classwide under American Pipe 

Another reason to reject defendant’s argument is that the SOL was tolled 

classwide under American Pipe & Constr. Co. v. Utah, 414 U.S. 538, 554 (1974)).  

American Pipe held that “‘the commencement of a class action suspends the 

applicable statute of limitations as to all asserted members of the class who would 

have been parties had the suit been permitted to continue as a class action.’”  Crown, 

Cork & Seal Co. v. Parker, 462 U.S. 345, 349 (1983) (quoting Am. Pipe, 414 U.S. at 

554).  This ensures class members are not prejudiced for the patience necessary to 

achieve the efficiency of bringing together claims as a class action.  See id. at 352. 

“American Pipe stated that where the litigation gave the defendants notice of 

the ‘potential plaintiffs who may participate [and] the essential information necessary 

to determine . . . the subject matter [of the litigation],’ tolling applies.”  Hrdina v. 

World Sav. Bank, No. C 11-05173 WHA, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12252, at *7-*8 

(N.D. Cal. Jan. 31, 2012) (quoting Am. Pipe, 414 U.S. at 554-55).  Thus, the Ninth 
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Circuit has applied American Pipe tolling in cases where the claims are not identical.  

See Tosti v. Los Angeles, 754 F.2d 1485, 1489 (9th Cir. 1985) (“We find no persuasive 

authority for a rule which would require that the [subsequent] suit must be identical in 

every respect to the class suit for the statute to be tolled.”).  As the Central District of 

California held, “the cause of action in a subsequent complaint need not be identical to 

that in a previous complaint for American Pipe tolling to apply, as long as the claims 

‘concern the same evidence, memories, and witnesses as the subject matter of the 

original class suit’ so that ‘the defendant will not be prejudiced.’”  Me. State Ret. Sys. 

v. Countrywide Fin. Corp., No. 2:10-CV-0302 MRP (MANx), 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

125203, at *54-*56 (C.D. Cal. May 5, 2011).  The subsequent action “need only share 

a factual and legal relationship such that the defendant would likely rely on the same 

evidence or witnesses to put on its defense.”  Jenson v. Allison-Williams Co., No. 98-

CV-2229 TW (JFS), 1999 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22170, at *14 (S.D. Cal. Aug. 23, 1999).  

This makes perfect sense as the relation-back doctrine under Rule 15 extends to any 

claim “that arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set out – or attempted 

to be set out – in the original pleading.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(1)(B). 

Here, applying American Pipe would not subject Trump to any unfair surprise 

as charges against him arise from the same transactions and wrongful acts as those 

identified in the Low complaints in which he was named.  See Me. State Ret. Sys., 

2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 125203, at *55-*56.  In fact, in seeking to consolidate this 

case with Low, defendant judicially admitted that these actions “arise out of 

substantially the same facts and involve similar claims by former students of the 

“Trump University” Live Events.”  Dkt. 150 at 1.  Had the Low plaintiffs added a 

RICO claim by the July 31, 2012 deadline (Low Dkt. 108), that claim would have 

related back to the original filing date of April 30, 2010 under Rule 15 – as to both 

named plaintiffs and class members.  It was only after July 31, 2012, that absent class 

members like Cohen, were put on notice that a RICO claim was not being pursued in 

Low.  Therefore, the only way to ensure that Class Members do not suffer prejudice 
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due to their patience is to toll the SOL for the RICO claim until July 31, 2012.  That 

means that the RICO class claim filed by Cohen in October 2013 was timely for all. 

F. Decertification of Damages Is Not Warranted at this Time 

1. The Basis for Decertifying Restitutionary Damages in 
Low Is Inapplicable to the RICO Claim in Cohen 

Defendant’s damages arguments are on a feedback loop.  In opposing class 

certification in Cohen, defendant “offer[ed] evidence of evaluations showing different 

amounts of approval for TU programs, claiming that this evidence ‘belies any claim 

that the TU programs were worthless when class members remain happy and satisfied 

with their experience at TU . . . and are now successful in real estate and have made 

profitable investments using the tools and strategies taught by TU.’”  Dkt. 53 at 20 

(quoting Dkt. 45 at 24-25).  In rejecting defendant’s argument, this Court 

distinguished the statutory trebled damages available under RICO from the 

restitutionary damages available under the state law claims in Low: 

Here, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s damages model matches 
Plaintiff’s theory of liability. Although some courts have found a “full 
refund” model of damages inappropriate where the plaintiff’s theory of 
liability seeks restitutionary damages, see Werdebaugh v. Blue Diamond 
Growers, No. 12-cv-02724-LHK, 2014 WL 2191901 at *22 (N.D. Cal. 
Oct. 2, 2013), Plaintiff brings this claim under RICO, which provides for 
statutory trebled damages, attorney’s fees, and cost of suit, 18 U.S.C. 
§1964(c). “[D]amages under RICO do not depend on subjective 
valuations, but rather on objective losses.” Negrete v. Allianz Life Ins. 
Co. of N. Am., Nos. CV 05-6838 CAS (MANx), CV 05-8908 CAS 
(MANx), 2013 WL 6535164 at *4 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 9, 2013). The Court 
therefore finds that while Plaintiff must still prove its damages case, his 
theory of damage recovery does not conflict with his theory of liability 
under Comcast. Accordingly, the Court finds that individualized 
questions as to damages do not defeat predominance in this case. 

Dkt. 53 at 21. 

Seizing on this Court’s statement that “some courts have found a ‘full refund’ 

model of damages inappropriate where the plaintiff’s theory of liability seeks 

restitutionary damages” (id.), defendants moved for decertification in Low.  

Defendants argued that students’ subjective valuations should be considered in 

assessing restitution.  See Low Dkt. 380-1 at 4, 6-9.  In its order, the Court 
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distinguished Low from Werdebaugh and other cases involving tangible items (Low 

Dkt. 418 at 11-12), but bifurcated and decertified damages based on defendants’ 

contention that the “value” received depended on the student’s subjective assessment.  

See Dkt. 380-1 at 6-9.  The Court held that restitutionary awards would begin with the 

“baseline” of what each student paid, with the potential for defendants to “support an 

offset” depending on her assessment at the damages phase.  See Low Dkt. 418 at 19. 

Emboldened by Low’s decertification order, defendant now brings the argument 

full circle, arguing that the opt-outs’ subjective value assessments raise individualized 

damages questions in Cohen too.  See Def’s Mem. at 24 (citing testimony of opt-outs 

Colic, Gunn, Levand, Nielsen and rebuttal experts largely based on same testimony).  

But as this Court already held:  “[D]amages under RICO do not depend on subjective 

valuations, but rather on objective losses.”  Dkt. 53 at 21 (alteration in original).  

Thus, in addition to being irrelevant generally (§IV.C.), these students’ subjective 

valuations are irrelevant to RICO damages specifically.  See id.  Similarly, 

defendant’s rebuttal experts are irrelevant to the extent they parrot students’ subjective 

valuations.  See, e.g., Dkt. 187-1 at 6-12.  Moreover, defendant’s experts are only for 

rebuttal purposes and will be called to testify only if plaintiff calls his experts at trial 

and only on those issues upon which plaintiff’s experts opine.  See Dkts. 184-1 at 1, 

187-1 at 1, 189-1 at 1.  Finally, to the extent that defendant’s rebuttal “experts” are 

permitted to draw similarities to other known scams, this is a form of common proof 

that poses no barrier to certification.  See Dkt. 187-1 at 12-14 (citing Rich Dad Poor 

Dad); see also Ex. 16 (exposé about Rich Dad Poor Dad).  As defendant has not come 

forward with any substantial evidence demonstrating that plaintiff cannot “‘show that 

[his] damages stemmed from the defendant’s actions that created the legal liability,’” 

class certification is still proper.  See Hatamian v. Advanced Micro Devices, Inc., No. 

14-cv-00226 YGR, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 34150, at *24-*26 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 16, 

2016) (quoting Leyva v. Medline Indus., 716 F.3d 510, 514 (9th Cir. 2013)). 

If a few outliers still exist, despite all the facts to the contrary, they could opt 
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out.  As the Ninth Circuit found, “victims of con artists often sing the praises of their 

victimizers until the moment they realize they have been fleeced.”  Makaeff v. Trump 

Univ., LLC, 715 F.3d 254, 271 (9th Cir. 2013) (analogizing this case to “Ponzi-

scheme scandals involving onetime financial luminaries like Bernard Madoff and 

Allen Stanford”).  That a few remain deceived or seek to curry favor with Trump 

cannot defeat the claims of the many others who were fleeced.  See Dkt. 46 at 3-4. 

2. “Simple” Bifurcation Is the Best Solution 

To avoid juror confusion, streamline the trial, and address defendant’s concerns 

about individual damages issues, the Court should bifurcate liability from damages so 

that common liability issues may be tried first and then the Court could revisit whether 

damages should be decertified, if and when plaintiff prevails on liability issues. 

The Ninth Circuit approves bifurcation with a wait-and-see approach on 

decertification of damages.  See Newberg §§11.1, 11.6, 11.9 (section 11.6 describes 

“simple” bifurcation scheme when “only if the class succeeds in the liability phase 

will the court then turn to address the damage issue”); see, e.g., Pom Wonderful LLC 

v. Welch Foods, Inc., 468 F. App’x 688, 689 (9th Cir. 2012) (affirming bifurcation 

decision); Hopkins v. Dow Corning Corp., 33 F.3d 1116, 1119 (9th Cir. 1994) (“The 

case was bifurcated so that issues regarding liability would be determined first, and if 

needed, a second trial on damages would be held.”) (cited in O’Connor, 92 F. Supp. 

2d at 1044, which Def’s Mem. at 8 cites); Gable v. Land Rover N. Am., Inc., No. 

SACV 07-0376 AG (RNBx), 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 90774, at *17-*18 (C.D. Cal. 

July 25, 2011) (“Accordingly, the trial [in class this action] shall be bifurcated into (1) 

a liability phase and (2) a damages phase.”); Jaroslawicz v. Engelhard Corp., 724 F. 

Supp. 294, 302-03 (D.N.J. 1989) (“[I]t is well settled that the issue of liability may be 

tried separately from the damage claims of individual class members.”); see also 

Manual for Complex Litigation Fourth, §21.5 (“In jury cases, the court may consider 

trying common issues first, preserving individual issues for later determination.”). 

Simple bifurcation with a wait-and-see approach on damages will keep the lid 
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on the Pandora’s box that the parties opened in Low with their disputes about how to 

adjudicate absent class member restitutionary damages once decertified.  See, e.g., 

Low Pretrial Order Submissions, dated 4/29/16, 5/4/16, and 5/5/16.  Preserving a 

fully-certified class will provide this Court with the greatest latitude in appointing a 

special master or otherwise devising a common-sense approach to adjudicating any 

individual damages issues that remain.  See 4/29/16 Defs’ Pretrial Order Submission 

at 9-10 (distinguishing plaintiff’s case Hilao v. Estate of Marcos, 103 F.3d 767, 772 

(9th Cir. 1996), as a case certified for damages); see also Leyva, 716 F.3d at 515 

(reversing denial of certification for individual damages issues as “[t]he district court, 

or a special master appointed under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 53, could use a 

similar method to calculate damages once the court adjudicates liability”). 

Most importantly, this approach honors the Ninth Circuit’s long-standing rule 

that individual damages issues do not defeat class certification.  See Leyva, 716 F.3d 

at 514 (The “amount of damages is invariably an individual question and does not 

defeat class action treatment.”) (quoting Blackie v. Barrack, 524 F.2d 891, 905 (9th 

Cir. 1975)).  The Court should bifurcate – but not decertify – damages at this time. 

G. Even Defendant’s Kitchen-Sink “Combo” Argument Is Old 

In a last ditch effort, defendant throws in the kitchen sink and argues vaguely 

“there are significant individualized questions as to damages, the statute of limitations, 

and causation,” and even if one is insufficient, “the combination” of these warrants 

decertification.  Def’s Mem. at 25.  As with all others, defendant made this argument 

in his opposition to class certification (Dkt. 45 at 28), which the Court rejected.  See 

Dkt. 53 at 22.  The Court should once again reject defendant’s “combo” argument. 

DATED:  June 3, 2016 Respectfully submitted, 
ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 

& DOWD LLP 
 

s/ Rachel L. Jensen  
 RACHEL L. JENSEN
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on June 3, 2016, I authorized the electronic filing of the 

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system which will send 

notification of such filing to the e-mail addresses denoted on the attached Electronic 

Mail Notice List, and I hereby certify that I caused to be mailed the foregoing 

document or paper via the United States Postal Service to the non-CM/ECF 

participants indicated on the attached Manual Notice List. 

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America 

that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on June 3, 2016. 

 s/ Rachel L. Jensen  
 RACHEL L. JENSEN 

 
ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN  
 & DOWD LLP 
655 West Broadway, Suite 1900 
San Diego, CA  92101-8498 
Telephone:  619/231-1058 
619/231-7423 (fax) 
 
E-mail: rachelj@rgrdlaw.com
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I, Rachel L. Jensen, declare as follows: 

1. I am an attorney duly licensed to practice before all of the courts of the 

State of California. I am a member of the law firm of Robbins Geller Rudman & 

Dowd LLP, which serves as Court-appointed Class Counsel in the above-entitled 

action.  I have personal knowledge of the matters stated herein and, if called upon, I 

could and would competently testify thereto. 

2. I submit this declaration in support of Plaintiff’s Memorandum of Points 

and Authorities in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Decertification. 

3. Attached hereto are true and correct copies of the following exhibits: 

Exhibit Description Page Nos. 

1 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the videotaped 
deposition of Amy H., taken on July 1, 2015; 

1-9 

2 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the deposition of 
Marla Rains Colic, taken on May 19, 2015; 

10-20 

3 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the videotaped 
deposition of Michelle Gunn, taken October 28, 2014, in 
Low v. Trump University, LLC, No. 3:10-cv-0940-GPC-
WVG; 

21-27 

4 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the deposition of 
Meena Mohan, taken on June 10, 2015; 

28-33 

5 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the videotaped 
deposition of Mette Nielsen, taken on December 19, 
2014, in Low; 

34-41 

6 TU 198220-22; 42-45 

7 TU 155015-16; 46-48 

8 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the videotaped 
deposition of Donald J. Trump, taken on January 21, 
2016; 

49-53 

9 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the videotaped 
deposition of Dr. Michael A. Kamins, Ph.D., taken on 
April 1, 2016; 

54-58 

10 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the videotaped 
deposition of Paul Canup, taken on November 10, 2014, 
in Low; 

59-65 

Case 3:13-cv-02519-GPC-WVG   Document 221-1   Filed 06/03/16   Page 2 of 6



 

1151761_1  - 2 - 3:13-cv-02519-GPC-WVG
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Exhibit Description Page Nos. 

11 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the videotaped 
deposition of Sonny Low, taken on April 13, 2016, in 
Low; 

66-68 

12 Relevant excerpts from the transcript of the videotaped 
deposition of Stephen Goff, taken March 19, 2015; 

69-71 

13 Relevant excerpts from the 2010 PlayBook (TU 52934-
53105); 

72-75 

14 TU 154665-702; 76-114 

15 TU 99220-95; 115-191 

16 ‘Rich Dad’ seminars deceptive: Marketplace, CBC News 
(Jan. 29, 2010) (Wallace Tr. Ex. 17); and 

192-194 

17 Leon H. Wolf, Trump Campaign Releases a Video 
Defending Trump University…that is Itself a Scam, 
RedState (June 1, 2016). 

195-200 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of 

America that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed this 3rd day of June, 2016, at 

San Diego, California. 

s/ Rachel L. Jensen 
RACHEL L. JENSEN 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on June 3, 2016, I authorized the electronic filing of the 

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system which will send 

notification of such filing to the e-mail addresses denoted on the attached Electronic 

Mail Notice List, and I hereby certify that I caused to be mailed the foregoing 

document or paper via the United States Postal Service to the non-CM/ECF 

participants indicated on the attached Manual Notice List. 

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America 

that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on June 3, 2016. 

 s/ Rachel L. Jensen  
 RACHEL L. JENSEN 

 
ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN  
 & DOWD LLP 
655 West Broadway, Suite 1900 
San Diego, CA  92101-8498 
Telephone:  619/231-1058 
619/231-7423 (fax) 
 
E-mail: rachelj@rgrdlaw.com
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Deposition of Amy M. H COHEN vs. TRUMP, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 1

 1                   UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

 2                 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

 3   ----------------------------------------x

 4   ART COHEN, Individually

 5   and on Behalf of All

 6   Others Similarly

 7   Situated,

 8                         Plaintiff,

 9          -against-                  3:13-cv-02519

10   DONALD J. TRUMP,                  GPC-WVG

11                         Defendant.

12   ----------------------------------------x

13

14

15

16

17                    VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF:
                        AMY M. H

18                     Wednesday, July 1, 2015
                       New York, New York

19                      10:46 a.m. - 3:09 p.m.

20

21

22

23                    Reported in stenotype by:
          ---- Rich Germosen, CCR, CRCR, CRR, RMR ----

24              NCRA & NJ Certified Realtime Reporter
              NCRA Realtime Systems Administrator

25                          Job No. 63825

Exhibit 1 
page 2
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Deposition of Amy M. H COHEN vs. TRUMP, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 69

 12:09  1   any change or did you make -- want to make any

 2   changes to it?

 3                  MS. JENSEN:  Object to form.

 4          Q.      Do you remember making any changes to

 12:09  5   your declaration?

 6          A.      I may have made some slight

 7   modifications, but this is what I put my signature

 8   on.

 9          Q.      And you understood you were signing

 12:09 10   under the penalty of perjury; correct?

11          A.      Yes, I did.

12          Q.      And to the best of your knowledge and

13   understanding is everything that's stated in the

14   declaration true and correct?

 12:09 15                  MS. JENSEN:  Objection to form and

16   vague as to time.

17          Q.      When you signed it at that time was

18   everything true and correct?

19          A.      At that time, yes.

 12:10 20          Q.      Do you stand by it now?

21          A.      No, I do not.

22          Q.      Why not?

23          A.      If I knew then what I know now I

24   wouldn't even be here today.

 12:10 25          Q.      But at the time that you signed it

Exhibit 1 
page 3
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Deposition of Amy M. H COHEN vs. TRUMP, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 70

 12:10  1   you signed it freely; correct?

 2          A.      I signed it freely.

 3          Q.      Did you sign it under any duress at

 4   all?

 12:10  5                  MS. JENSEN:  Objection to form.

 6   Speculation.

 7                  MR. MARON:  I'm asking her.  This is

 8   her personal knowledge.

 9          Q.      Did you sign it under any duress at

 12:10 10   all at the time?

11          A.      I did not.  I was not told of any of

12   the repercussions that may result of me signing this

13   and I signed this with all good intentions that

14   being new and novice in this industry my experience

 12:10 15   was positive as shared in this declaration.

16          Q.      And you said before you don't stand

17   by your declaration now; correct?

18          A.      That is correct.

19          Q.      Why so?

 12:11 20          A.      I wouldn't be here today had I known

21   what I know now back then.  I wouldn't have even

22   enrolled in the Trump University program.

23          Q.      And you say what you know.  What do

24   you know now that you didn't know then?

 12:11 25          A.      Well, when I entered into and wanted

Exhibit 1 
page 4
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Deposition of Amy M. H COHEN vs. TRUMP, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 71

 12:11  1   to learn Donald Trump's secrets, his strategies, his

 2   techniques, I thought they -- I truly believed that

 3   they were unique, that Donald Trump implemented and

 4   he was going to share these through his Trump

 12:11  5   University and I wanted to learn from the best.  He

 6   had the reputation in the real estate.  So I took

 7   the classes with enthusiasm because being new, I was

 8   going to learn all this information that he used in

 9   his real estate dealings.

 12:12 10                  What I have since learned over time

11   that the practices that he taught or I should say

12   his staff taught and the instructors taught really

13   are standard practices in the industry and nothing

14   that is unique that Donald Trump did.  And there are

 12:12 15   several sources, such as my local real estate club,

16   that offered the same type of education and -- but I

17   gave Donald Trump the edge because of his reputation

18   within the industry and I wanted to learn from the

19   best.  So that was then.  That's why I enrolled.

 12:13 20                  Now I would not have enrolled at all.

21   I would not have made a declaration because I would

22   never have been involved in the program.

23          Q.      Now, did you come to this change of

24   heart on your own?

 12:13 25          A.      No.

Exhibit 1 
page 5
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Deposition of Amy M. H COHEN vs. TRUMP, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 72

 12:13  1          Q.      Who did you talk to about it?

 2          A.      Well, obviously I talked to my

 3   husband about it.

 4          Q.      Besides your husband?

 12:13  5          A.      It was me.

 6          Q.      Anyone else?

 7          A.      No.

 8          Q.      So you just suddenly felt it wasn't

 9   worth it?

 12:14 10                  MS. JENSEN:  Objection to form.

11   Argumentative.

12          A.      With all the information I started

13   learning in the media because it is Trump's name, he

14   made the headlines, and I saw what was happening,

 12:14 15   but I wanted to put all of that in the past.  My

16   program was done.  I happened to have a good

17   experience because I was new, but I've since learned

18   that what I was taught didn't give me any

19   competitive edge that I was hoping it would because

 12:14 20   there are other resources that I could have tapped

21   into to learn the same principles and techniques.

22          Q.      Okay.

23                  MR. MARON:  I wanted to mark --

24   obviously, I've got a couple of questions about

 12:15 25   Ms. H 's financial situation.  You can invoke

Exhibit 1 
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Deposition of Amy M. H COHEN vs. TRUMP, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 116

 02:28  1   were concerned about being videotaped; correct?

 2          A.      That is correct.

 3          Q.      And why was that?  Why were you

 4   concerned?

 02:28  5          A.      I was very concerned about my

 6   personal and business reputation being on tape,

 7   being associated with this whole Trump University

 8   class action.  It was not something I wanted out

 9   there in the public space.

 02:28 10          Q.      And do you have a concern that any

11   public association with Trump University would cause

12   harm to your businesses?

13          A.      Yes, I do.

14          Q.      Today Mr. Maron asked you a number of

 02:28 15   questions about the declaration that you had signed

16   in the Makaeff action.

17                  Do you recall that?

18          A.      Yes, I do.

19          Q.      At the time that you had signed your

 02:29 20   declaration, had anybody told you that the New York

21   State Education Department had specifically directed

22   Mr. Trump in 2005 to stop using the university

23   title?

24          A.      No, I was not informed of any type of

 02:29 25   ongoing litigation or matters.
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 02:29  1          Q.      At the time that you signed your

 2   declaration, nobody had told you that the New York

 3   State Education Department told Mr. Trump it was

 4   unlawful to operate his business without a license

 02:29  5   in the State of New York?

 6          A.      No, I was not.

 7                  MR. MARON:  Objection.  Misleading.

 8                  She can answer.

 9          A.      I was not told.

 02:29 10          Q.      And no one at that time had told you

11   that Trump University had evaded the New York State

12   Education Department's directive by setting up a

13   fictitious office in Delaware by continuing to

14   operate in the State of New York; correct?

 02:29 15                  MR. MARON:  Objection.  Misleading.

16   Argumentative.

17          A.      No, I was not shared that

18   information.

19          Q.      And nobody had told you at the time

 02:30 20   you provided your declaration that Mr. Trump

21   continued to run Trump University without a license

22   in violation of New York State law?

23                  MR. MARON:  Objection.  Same

24   instruction.  Same objection.  Also lacks

 02:30 25   foundation.
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 02:30  1                  Go ahead.

 2          A.      No, I was not told.

 3          Q.      Did anybody tell you that in 2010 the

 4   New York State Education Department told Trump

 02:30  5   University to refund all current students' monies?

 6          A.      No, I did not.

 7                  MR. MARON:  Same instruction.  Same

 8   objection.

 9          Q.      Are you aware that since then, a New

 02:30 10   York State court has found that Trump was illegally

11   operating Trump University without a license?

12                  MR. MARON:  Objection.  Misleading.

13   Argumentative.

14          A.      I read something in the media, but I

 02:30 15   haven't paid too much attention to it so I don't

16   know what -- where the status is now.

17          Q.      And are you aware now that the New

18   York Attorney General has sued Mr. Trump and Trump

19   University for fraud?

 02:30 20          A.      Yes, I have seen that.

21          Q.      You didn't have the benefit of any of

22   this information when you signed your declaration;

23   correct?

24          A.      That is correct.

 02:31 25          Q.      And you weren't aware that Mr. Trump
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 09:20:06  1   not want her representation from that.

 09:20:08  2       Q    Did Ms. Jensen explain to you your potential legal

 09:20:12  3   rights as a class member?

 09:20:13  4       A    I really don't remember if she did or not.  She might

 09:20:17  5   have.  I don't remember.

 09:20:17  6       Q    Did she explain to you that you had the right to opt

 09:20:20  7   out of the class and not be a participant in the litigation?

 09:20:24  8                MR. PFEFFERBAUM:  Objection.  Form.

 09:20:27  9                THE WITNESS:  I really don't remember if she did or

 09:20:30 10       not.

 09:20:30 11   BY MR. MORRIS:

 09:20:30 12       Q    Did you tell Ms. Jensen that you -- I think you said

 09:20:32 13   you told Ms. Jensen you didn't want to be a part of the class

 09:20:34 14   action?

 09:20:34 15       A    I did.  I told her I don't want to be part of the

 09:20:36 16   class.

 09:20:37 17       Q    Did you tell your you didn't want to be represented by

 09:20:39 18   her at the deposition today?

 09:20:40 19       A    Yes, I did.

 09:20:41 20       Q    Also, you didn't want to be represented by her in the

 09:20:43 21   litigation?

 09:20:43 22       A    That's correct.  I wanted off of it completely.

 09:20:45 23       Q    Prior to that conversation with Ms. Jensen two or three

 09:20:52 24   weeks ago had you had any other conversations with any counsel

 09:20:54 25   for Plaintiffs?
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 11:15:04  1       A    That is correct.  And I trust the paper more than my

 11:15:07  2   memory.  That sounds about right.

 11:15:09  3       Q    And on the second page of this under the rating for,

 11:15:17  4   about halfway down, understood my concerns.  You actually gave

 11:15:20  5   Mr. Derrick a ten, which is, I believe, you're -- what were you

 11:15:25  6   trying to impart by rating him a ten on that statement that he

 11:15:29  7   understood your concerns?

 11:15:30  8       A    Okay.  So, I took the class in September.  My house

 11:15:40  9   burns down in October.  I have an eight month old who I run out

 11:15:46 10   of a burning house with.  I end up having a nervous breakdown.

 11:15:49 11   I end up in a psyched ward and -- all in October.

 11:15:53 12            And in March he has this with me.  I have a lot of

 11:15:58 13   concerns in life, but I'm plowing ahead.  And I'm doing the

 11:16:02 14   mentorship regardless of all my personal issues.  So, you'd

 11:16:08 15   probably give him a ten too.

 11:16:11 16       Q    And you feel like he tailored the mentorship

 11:16:14 17   specifically to you and your family?

 11:16:14 18       A    Specifically, yes.

 11:16:16 19       Q    I want to talk to you a little bit about what you did

 11:16:20 20   with the information that you learned while you were at Trump

 11:16:22 21   University.  And we've talked a little bit about some of the

 11:16:25 22   properties that you've purchased since then.

 11:16:27 23            Can you describe the efforts that you made after

 11:16:30 24   attending the Trump University seminars to put the real estate

 11:16:34 25   teachings into effect?
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 11:39:35  1       Donald Trump, a lot of the people that write books about

 11:39:39  2       wealth generations, I had been kind of attracted to those --

 11:39:42  3       those sorts of books.  And I had read a lot of Donald

 11:39:45  4       Trump's books and been interested in what he had

 11:39:48  5       accomplished.  I didn't know a lot, but I knew enough to

 11:39:52  6       know that this is somebody who, minus the celebrity part,

 11:39:54  7       was somebody that had taken really not a lot and made it

 11:39:58  8       into an empire.  So, I was curious about that.

 11:40:03  9                But I fully understood that I wasn't going to meet

 11:40:05 10       the man.  I was just attending a seminar that was part of

 11:40:09 11       his umbrella of companies.  So I expected excellence and

 11:40:13 12       that's what I got.  That's what we got.  It was an

 11:40:15 13       excellent -- I felt like it was an excellent mentorship and

 11:40:18 14       program.

 11:40:19 15   BY MR. MORRIS:

 11:40:19 16       Q    Do you feel like the instructors and the mentors that

 11:40:23 17   were provided to teach you were experts in the subject matters

 11:40:26 18   they were presenting?

 11:40:27 19                MR. PFEFFERBAUM:  Objection to form.

 11:40:28 20                THE WITNESS:  Yes, and I expected nothing less than

 11:40:31 21       that.

 11:40:32 22   BY MR. MORRIS:

 11:40:37 23       Q    Do you recall any representations made by Trump

 11:40:40 24   University that you would be learning Donald Trump's personal

 11:40:42 25   real estate secrets?
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 11:40:44  1       A    Well, I don't think his secrets are really secrets.

 11:40:50  2   But I think somebody said something about that.  I remember

 11:40:53  3   hearing that phrase.  And listen, that's a bunch of marketing

 11:40:58  4   BS.  Because nobody's secrets are truly secrets.  This

 11:41:02  5   information is out.  But the thing is, is that not everybody

 11:41:08  6   accesses the information.

 11:41:09  7            Accessing the information is difficult to do.  And my

 11:41:11  8   husband and I both knew that we needed to gain those secrets

 11:41:17  9   from someone that -- that really knew the business, and the

 11:41:24 10   information is out there, but it takes someone with a lot of

 11:41:27 11   courage to actually execute this.

 11:41:29 12            The real estate information is out there, but it takes

 11:41:32 13   hard work, determination, a back bone and the ability to do what

 11:41:36 14   other people don't want to do.  I would rather have spent that

 11:41:39 15   money -- I've spent so much money on real estate and these

 11:41:41 16   courses I could have bought myself many luxury cars since then.

 11:41:45 17   So, it's just a matter of making the choices that you want to.

 11:41:49 18   This is an investment, right, for the future.

 11:41:51 19       Q    Do you feel like Trump University packaged the

 11:41:56 20   information that they provided you in a digestible manner?

 11:42:00 21                MR. PFEFFERBAUM:  Objection to form vague.

 11:42:02 22                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  It was digestible.  It was --

 11:42:06 23       it was very quick moving.  It was -- they wasted no time.

 11:42:12 24       So they -- they went at a kind of a break-neck -- break-neck

 11:42:17 25       speed, but it was very digestible for sure.
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 12:06:22  1       Q    Did anyone ever tell you that the New York State

 12:06:25  2   Education Department told Donald Trump in 2005 it was illegal to

 12:06:30  3   use the university as title for Trump University?

 12:06:33  4       A    Yes.

 12:06:34  5                MR. MORRIS:  Objection.  Lacks foundation.

 12:06:37  6                THE WITNESS:  Yes, I am aware of that.  I don't

 12:06:39  7       know if anybody told me, but I'm aware of that information.

 12:06:42  8   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:06:42  9       Q    When did you become of aware of that information?

 12:06:44 10       A    I don't remember.  Well, let me -- it I would say 2012,

 12:06:49 11   something like that.

 12:06:50 12       Q    Would you say it was before or after you signed your

 12:06:54 13   declaration?

 12:06:54 14       A    Oh, Dan, I just don't know.  I'm sorry.

 12:07:01 15       Q    Did anyone tell you that Trump defied the directive

 12:07:09 16   from the New York State Department of Education to stop using

 12:07:12 17   the name using the title university?

 12:07:17 18       A    No, I didn't know that.

 12:07:19 19                MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Argumentative.

 12:07:21 20       Lacks foundation.

 12:07:21 21   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:07:22 22       Q    Did anyone tell you that in 2005 the New York State

 12:07:24 23   Education Department told Trump he was illegally operating

 12:07:27 24   without a license?

 12:07:29 25                MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Argumentative.
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 12:07:31  1       Lacks foundation.

 12:07:31  2                THE WITNESS:  I do not know that.

 12:07:33  3   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:07:33  4       Q    Did anyone tell you that Trump lied to the New York

 12:07:37  5   State Education Department that it had moved to Delaware while

 12:07:41  6   continuing to operate out of New York?

 12:07:43  7                MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Argumentative.

 12:07:44  8       Lacks foundation.

 12:07:45  9                THE WITNESS:  I didn't know that either.

 12:07:47 10   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:07:47 11       Q    Did anyone tell you that the New York State Department

 12:07:51 12   of Education told Trump University that it must refund all

 12:07:55 13   current students' money?

 12:07:56 14                MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Lacks foundation.

 12:07:58 15                THE WITNESS:  No one told me that.

 12:07:59 16   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:08:00 17       Q    You're aware that the New York Attorney General has

 12:08:03 18   sued Trump University, correct?

 12:08:04 19       A    I'm aware of that, yes.  Uh-huh.

 12:08:06 20       Q    And are you aware that the -- a New York State Court

 12:08:09 21   has found that Trump was illegally operating Trump University

 12:08:13 22   without a license?

 12:08:13 23                MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.

 12:08:14 24                THE WITNESS:  I'm not aware of that.

25   ///
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 12:08:16  1   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:08:19  2       Q    Had you been told that Trump University was unlawfully

 12:08:22  3   operating would you have signed your declaration?

 12:08:25  4                MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Lacks foundation.

 12:08:27  5                THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I still would have signed it.

 12:08:32  6       I'm fully aware that what goes on behind the scenes

 12:08:35  7       politically.  And I'm not necessarily -- board of education

 12:08:38  8       this or that or the court system in New York says something

 12:08:42  9       that doesn't necessarily mean that the information is still

 12:08:44 10       not valuable to me.  I still would have signed the

 12:08:48 11       declaration.  I still think that this was for me personally

 12:08:50 12       a great, a great program.

 12:08:53 13   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:08:53 14       Q    So, you -- you would have signed your name to a

 12:09:00 15   declaration in support of what has been found an illegal

 12:09:04 16   institution?

 12:09:04 17                MR. MORRIS:  Objection.  Form.  Argumentative.

 12:09:07 18       Lacks foundation.

 12:09:07 19                THE WITNESS:  The word illegal doesn't scare me.

 12:09:11 20       So, yes, I would have.

 12:09:12 21   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:09:13 22       Q    Earlier we talked about your experience at the two-day

 12:09:20 23   program with James Harris?

 12:09:22 24       A    Yes.  Two-day.  Yes.

 12:09:24 25       Q    Were you aware that Mr. Harris was paid on commission
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 12:20:28  1   the page where it says:  I'm sorry that Trump organization; do

 12:20:31  2   you see that?

 12:20:31  3       A    Yes, I see it.

 12:20:32  4       Q    Can you read that those that sentence into the record,

 12:20:35  5   please?

 12:20:35  6       A    I'd be happy to.

 12:20:37  7            I'm sorry that the Trump organization must be burdened

 12:20:39  8   by money hungry snakes being directed by devilish lawyers.  I

 12:20:42  9   can only speak for myself, this is a matter of personal

 12:20:45 10   accountability.

 12:20:45 11       Q    That's good.  Thank you.

 12:20:46 12       A    Okay.

 12:20:47 13       Q    What exactly did Ms. O'Halloran tell you -- let me ask

 12:20:55 14   you this first:  Was the phone call from Ms. O'Halloran the

 12:20:58 15   first time you learned of this litigation?

 12:21:01 16       A    No, no.  I've known about it since before that, I

 12:21:05 17   think.  I think.  I don't remember.  It was all around that

 12:21:08 18   time.

 12:21:12 19            And by the way, the sentence that I just spoke that is

 12:21:16 20   my personal opinion, that has nothing to do with what

 12:21:19 21   Ms. O'Halloran talked to me about.

 12:21:20 22       Q    Where did you develop the opinion that this lawsuit was

 12:21:29 23   driven by money hungry snakes being directed by devilish

 12:21:32 24   lawyers?

 12:21:32 25       A    Because the whole entire thing to me seems very bogus.
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 12:27:49  1       Q    So in -- you chose Trump University in part because of

 12:27:54  2   Donald Trump's association with it, correct?

 12:27:56  3                MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.

 12:27:57  4                THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I would state that.  Yeah.

 12:28:00  5   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:28:00  6       Q    And --

 12:28:00  7       A    I mean, if it was Dan University teaching about Dan

 12:28:04  8   real estate I would be like, who's Dan?  You know what I mean?

 12:28:06  9       Q    Absolutely.

 12:28:07 10            And you thought that the, for example, a Trump mentor

 12:28:14 11   would be someone that would you'd associate with the same

 12:28:18 12   standards?

 12:28:20 13                MR. MORRIS:  Object to form.

 12:28:21 14                THE WITNESS:  I expected that.  Yes, I did.

 12:28:23 15   BY MR. PFEFFERBAUM:

 12:28:23 16       Q    And did having a Trump certified mentor give you

 12:28:33 17   confidence?

 12:28:34 18       A    So --

 12:28:35 19                MR. MORRIS:  Same objection.

 12:28:36 20                THE WITNESS:  So, I don't know.  I mean, I assumed

 12:28:39 21       that they were certified under that program.  Whether or not

 12:28:41 22       that mentor had met Donald Trump and gotten the blessing,

 12:28:45 23       the Trump blessing, I did not assume that.  But it did give

 12:28:47 24       me some kind of confidence.

 12:28:51 25                Parallel to that I also remember asking Mr. Derrick
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 09:21:36  1   of my rights since I was a purchaser or a client or a

 09:21:40  2   student of the program, and if I wanted representation I

 09:21:45  3   would have it from her, I had a right to also third-party

 09:21:48  4   representation, to be able to share my experience or my

 09:21:52  5   story and/or opt out, which meant I had no representation

 09:21:55  6   here today.

 09:21:57  7       Q    And did you make a decision as to -- you

 09:22:00  8   mentioned earlier when I asked you if you were

 09:22:02  9   represented by counsel, you said no.

 09:22:04 10            So have you made a decision about whether or not

 09:22:06 11   you want to be represented by plaintiffs' counsel at this

 09:22:09 12   point in time?

 09:22:10 13       A    Yes.  And I told her today that I wouldn't need

 09:22:13 14   representation.  So opting out of the class-action, but

 09:22:17 15   also not needing representation, just as I'm not

 09:22:20 16   represented by you folks.

 09:22:25 17       Q    Thank you.

 09:22:27 18            Did any of her communications suggest to you

 09:22:31 19   that somehow her -- let me strike that and ask it a

 09:22:36 20   better way.

 09:22:37 21            Did you have any discussion with her about your

 09:22:39 22   appearance here at today's deposition?

 09:22:43 23       A    In any of the calls?

 09:22:45 24       Q    Yes.

 09:22:45 25       A    I would assume so.  Because the first time last
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 10:03:58  1   contractor in that market.  Different ways to finance

 10:04:04  2   than traditionally going into a bank and getting a

 10:04:07  3   traditional loan.  And those were the things that we

 10:04:10  4   wanted to learn a little more of.  How to tweak our

 10:04:13  5   business since the times had tweaked on us and different

 10:04:17  6   ways to remain in business, if not accelerate.

 10:04:22  7       Q    All right.  Now let's turn to the three-day.

 10:04:24  8            Are you doing okay?  Do you need a break?

 10:04:26  9       A    No.

 10:04:26 10       Q    Okay.  So you attended the three-day seminar in

 10:04:32 11   June of 2010, correct?

 10:04:33 12       A    June 4 through the 7th.

 10:04:35 13       Q    All right.  And do you remember where that was?

 10:04:39 14       A    The -- Lynwood, Washington, and I believe it was

 10:04:41 15   at the Embassy Suites.

 10:04:43 16       Q    Okay.  And do you remember how many people

 10:04:46 17   attended the three-day seminar along with you?

 10:04:50 18       A    In the room?  Probably 25 to 30.

 10:04:57 19       Q    And who else from your family attended with you?

 10:05:02 20       A    I attended all three days, my mother attended

 10:05:05 21   all three days, and both of my sons attended all three

 10:05:08 22   days.

 10:05:08 23       Q    Okay.  And Houston's here.  But what's your

 10:05:10 24   other son's name?

 10:05:12 25       A    Austin.
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 02:19:36  1   or at any point up until when you signed this

 02:19:40  2   declaration, did anybody inform you that not only was

 02:19:46  3   Trump University not an accredited university, but that

 02:19:50  4   it had been -- but the -- strike that.

 02:19:53  5            At any point up until when you signed this

 02:19:55  6   declaration, did anybody inform you that not only was

 02:20:01  7   Trump University not a university, but that the New York

 02:20:05  8   State Education Department had specifically told

 02:20:10  9   Mr. Trump that he could not call it a university, but he

 02:20:13 10   did anyway?

 02:20:14 11       MS. STAGG:  Objection.  Lacks foundation.

 02:20:16 12       THE WITNESS:  I would have no knowledge of that.

 02:20:17 13   BY MS. JENSEN:

 02:20:17 14       Q    So nobody told you about that, right?

 02:20:21 15       A    I would have no knowledge of that.

 02:20:27 16       Q    Did anybody -- up until the time when you signed

 02:20:30 17   this declaration, did anybody advise you that after the

 02:20:37 18   New York State Education Department warned Donald Trump

 02:20:41 19   that it was illegal to call it a university, that he

 02:20:46 20   evaded their directive by setting up a false office --

 02:20:50 21   office in Delaware and then continued working out of

 02:20:54 22   New York?

 02:20:54 23       MS. STAGG:  Objection.  Argumentative; lacks

 02:20:55 24   foundation.

25   ////

Exhibit 3 
page 25

Case 3:13-cv-02519-GPC-WVG   Document 221-2   Filed 06/03/16   Page 25 of 200



Deposition of Michelle Gunn MAKAEFF, et al. vs. TRUMP UNIVERSITY, LCC, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING NON-CONFIDENTIAL Page: 157

 02:20:55  1   BY MS. JENSEN:

 02:20:56  2       Q    Did anybody tell you that?

 02:20:58  3       A    I had no knowledge of that until you told me

 02:21:07  4   some of that the other day.

 02:21:08  5       Q    Did anybody tell you that the New York State

 02:21:09  6   Education Department had explicitly told Mr. Trump in

 02:21:11  7   2005 that he needed a license to run an educational

 02:21:16  8   company that he was calling Trump University and he

 02:21:20  9   nevertheless continued running it without a license up

 02:21:24 10   until when it went dormant?

 02:21:26 11       MS. STAGG:  Objection.  Argumentative; lacks

 02:21:27 12   foundation.

 02:21:28 13   BY MS. JENSEN:

 02:21:29 14       Q    Did anybody tell you that?

 02:21:30 15       A    Not until you did the other day.

 02:21:32 16            (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 3 marked for

 02:21:32 17   Identification.)

 02:21:32 18   BY MS. JENSEN:

 02:21:47 19       Q    I am now going to mark as Plaintiffs' Gunn

 02:21:51 20   Exhibit 3 a document that unfortunately is not

 02:22:02 21   Bates-labeled.  I'm not sure how this is not a

 02:22:05 22   Bates-labeled copy.  But what I am going to do is refer

 02:22:13 23   to -- it is the same document as Plaintiffs' Exhibit 58

 02:22:17 24   for Martin.

 02:22:35 25            Here's a copy.  Here's a copy.
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 02:44:55  1   There's been good ones, bad ones, cheesy ones, sleazy

 02:44:58  2   ones, ones with heavy, heavy pitches, going to a variety

 02:45:03  3   of them.

 02:45:08  4            It was ran professionally, but it didn't have --

 02:45:12  5   it's not because it had a Trump name on it.  It was just

 02:45:15  6   how we felt being there and attending the event.

 02:45:20  7       Q    Right.  But when you were -- I'm saying before

 02:45:21  8   you decided to go.

 02:45:22  9       A    Okay.

 02:45:23 10       Q    Yeah.  When you got this mailer and it had the

 02:45:25 11   lion and it had, you know, "Donald Trump" on it, was --

 02:45:29 12   it was your assumption that his involvement was going to

 02:45:33 13   be a positive in terms of the quality of the -- of the

 02:45:38 14   training that you would receive, right?

 02:45:42 15       A    Yes.  And I would say it would be that with

 02:45:44 16   probably anything that would pique my interest, as some

 02:45:47 17   of the other ones that I attend as well.  I would assume,

 02:45:49 18   "Okay, we're going to learn something or we're going to

 02:45:53 19   get something out of it."  But you never know until you

 02:45:56 20   go and you kind of go with your gut.

 02:45:58 21       Q    And here you had a gut feeling that it was going

 02:46:00 22   to be -- that it was going to be a good thing to do,

 02:46:02 23   right?

 02:46:03 24       A    Well, no.  I wouldn't say go with the gut until

 02:46:05 25   you get there.
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  1       Q    Have you ever heard the term "opt out"?

  2       A    Yes.  And I think I -- yeah.  I've heard of it.

  3       Q    Have you heard of that in the context of a

  4   class action litigation?

  5       A    I -- actually, I started looking into it to

  6   find out because when all these things were happening, I

  7   had my personal life problems going on, so -- but I

  8   understand that I -- I requested not to be, you know --

  9   am I getting into any --

 10            MS. JENSEN:  It's fine to answer the question.

 11            THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  So I -- I'm opt -- I'm

 12   opting out.

 13   BY MR. MORRIS:

 14       Q    So today you are confirming that you are opting

 15   out as an absent class member from the Trump University

 16   class action litigation?

 17       A    I think I requested that before too.

 18            MS. JENSEN:  So I just want to clarify for the

 19   record that your intention is to opt out, but you have

 20   not yet legally done so.

 21            THE WITNESS:  Oh, okay.  So how -- how -- how

 22   is it -- what's the procedure for that?

 23            MS. JENSEN:  And we can talk about that more, I

 24   just want to make sure the record's clear because

 25   there's some question being -- because the witness is
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  1       Q    Do you have any understanding as to why Trump

  2   University changed its name from Trump University to

  3   Trump Entrepreneur Initiative?

  4       A    No.

  5       Q    You're not aware that it changed its name

  6   because the New York State Education Department stepped

  7   in and forced Trump to change the name from

  8   "University"?

  9       A    No.

 10            MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Lacks

 11   foundation.

 12   BY MS. JENSEN:

 13       Q    And you're not aware that the New York Attorney

 14   General -- I'm sorry, strike that.

 15            And you're not aware that the New York State

 16   Education Department told Donald Trump in 2005 that it

 17   was illegal to use the "university" title?

 18       A    No, I didn't.

 19            MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Lacks

 20   foundation.

 21   BY MS. JENSEN:

 22       Q    And you're not aware that Trump defied that

 23   directive from the New York State Education Department

 24   for five years?

 25       A    No.
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  1            MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Lacks

  2   foundation.

  3   BY MS. JENSEN:

  4       Q    And you're not aware that's the real reason

  5   that they changed the name?

  6            MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Argumentative.

  7   Lacks foundation.

  8            THE WITNESS:  No.

  9   BY MS. JENSEN:

 10       Q    And you're not aware that the New York State

 11   Education Department told Trump in 2005 that he was

 12   illegally operating without a license?

 13            MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  Lacks

 14   foundation.

 15   BY MS. JENSEN:

 16       Q    And that he still refused to get a license

 17   for --

 18       A    It's --

 19            THE REPORTER:  I didn't hear the question or

 20   the answer.

 21            THE WITNESS:  I mean, it's all -- essentially,

 22   no.

 23            THE REPORTER:  So what was the last question?

 24   BY MS. JENSEN:

 25       Q    And you're not aware that he never got a
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  1   the gold elite program?

  2       A    No.

  3       Q    You didn't sign up for the silver elite

  4   program?

  5       A    No.

  6       Q    You didn't sign up for the bronze program?

  7       A    No.

  8       Q    You only signed up for six phone coaching

  9   sessions, right?

 10       A    Yes.

 11       Q    And is it your understanding that this lawsuit

 12   involves the live seminars and the live mentorships,

 13   in-person mentorships?

 14       A    My understanding, that this lawsuit involves

 15   the elite programs, gold, all that stuff.

 16       Q    So that's why you're not involved?

 17       A    Yeah.

 18            MR. MORRIS:  Objection to form.  You said,

 19   "involves the live seminars."  She's testified she

 20   attended a three-day live seminar.

 21            MS. JENSEN:  No, that's not the question,

 22   that's why --

 23   BY MS. JENSEN:

 24       Q    You testified earlier that you believed you

 25   weren't involved, right?
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  Limited Liability Company,
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 11
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 12   __________________________________/
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 14
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 15

 16

 17                  Friday, December 19, 2014
                  9:07 a.m. - 1:25 p.m.

 18
                    One Biscayne Tower

 19                 2 South Biscayne Boulevard
                        Suite 1900
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  1         attorney-client privileged conversations.  And I

  2         will instruct Miss Nielsen not to answer any

  3         questions regarding communications in that time

  4         frame.

  5   BY MS. MARTIN:

  6       Q.    Miss Nielsen, at any time have you sought to

  7   be represented by the attorneys who represent the

  8   plaintiffs in the Makaeff case?

  9       A.    Yes.

 10       Q.    And what -- and when was that?

 11       A.    I -- throughout time there has been a couple

 12   of calls.  There were -- there were a call in 2013, a

 13   couple of calls maybe.  This is -- I'm not very clear

 14   on the time frame of this.

 15             MS. MUELLER:  And I'm just going to

 16         interject briefly, Miss Nielsen.  Our position

 17         is that after the class was certified in

 18         February of 2014 you were considered a client of

 19         class counsel from that time until the time that

 20         you opted out of the class action in November of

 21         2014.

 22             THE WITNESS:  But I -- unless there's a --

 23         unless there is a direct legal -- I mean, as a

 24         person that have absolutely no idea about class

 25         or not class or this or that, I was not part of
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  1         a class at any time.

  2             MS. MUELLER:  Well, legally you were

  3         considered a part of the class when the class

  4         was certified.  You have the legal right to opt

  5         out of the class, which you have done.  But

  6         prior to the time that you made the formal

  7         opting out of the class --

  8             THE WITNESS:  Maybe I need to be explained

  9         then.  Because people that form a class may --

 10         must be the people that are the class.  How can

 11         people that are not --

 12   BY MS. MARTIN:

 13       Q.    Let me break it down a little bit further.

 14   At any time have you wanted to be part of a class of

 15   students who is suing Trump University?

 16       A.    No.

 17       Q.    And at any time have you wanted to be

 18   represented by counsel who was representing the

 19   students who are suing Trump University?

 20       A.    No.

 21             MS. MARTIN:  Okay.  So let me go back to my

 22         original question, because now she's established

 23         that she has not at any time sought

 24         representation or authorized representation by

 25         counsel for the plaintiffs or the class.
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  1   for the record, you weren't attending that three-day

  2   seminar because you wanted the certificate, correct?

  3       A.    Oh, goodness, no.

  4             MS. MUELLER:  Objection; leading.

  5   BY MS. MARTIN:

  6       Q.    At the free seminar you attended did anyone

  7   make a representation to you that Trump University was

  8   an accredited school?

  9             MS. MUELLER:  Objection to form.

 10             THE WITNESS:  No.

 11   BY MS. MARTIN:

 12       Q.    At any time did you think it was an

 13   accredited school?

 14       A.    No.

 15             MS. MUELLER:  Objection to form.

 16             THE WITNESS:  Certainly because his name is

 17         in it "Donald Trump" and he has a certain space

 18         in real estate, like I said, to begin with, that

 19         got my attention, but that was about it.

 20   BY MS. MARTIN:

 21       Q.    At the time you attended Trump University,

 22   at any time you attended Trump University, did you

 23   believe it was a licensed educational institution?

 24             MS. MUELLER:  Objection to form.

 25             THE WITNESS:  I never thought of it -- I
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  1             MS. MUELLER:  Objection; form.

  2   BY MS. MARTIN:

  3       Q.    Did you have an expectation that he had met

  4   with James Harris?

  5             MS. MUELLER:  Same objection and foundation.

  6             THE WITNESS:  I'm thinking he almost must

  7         have.  I don't think he ever said anything about

  8         meeting him.  It's not -- again, it goes in the

  9         bucket with the certificates.  It wasn't really

 10         important to me.  I had value.  I was -- I had

 11         value.  I didn't have to sit and think about, is

 12         it -- when is he going to show up?  When is

 13         Donald Trump going to walk through the door?

 14         When are we going to shake hands?  It wasn't

 15         important to me.  I was -- I had value.

 16   BY MS. MARTIN:

 17       Q.    So would it be fair to say that whether

 18   Mr. Trump had met with the instructors, mentors

 19   personally, that's not something that mattered to you,

 20   correct?

 21             MS. MUELLER:  Objection; leading.

 22             THE WITNESS:  No, because they had the

 23         knowledge.  They had his branding.  They had --

 24         I didn't think that -- I didn't think about it

 25         like that, no.  One of the books were his own
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  1       A.    Yes.

  2       Q.    I think you testified earlier about -- about

  3   a university that calls itself a university, you would

  4   be surprised to learn that it wasn't actually a

  5   university; is that right?

  6             MS. MARTIN:  Objection; misstates the

  7         testimony.

  8             THE WITNESS:  I'd have to hear that again.

  9         I need to hear that again.

 10   BY MS. MUELLER:

 11       Q.    Sure.  I think you testified earlier that a

 12   university or an entity that calls itself a university,

 13   you would be surprised to learn that it wasn't actually

 14   a university; is that right?

 15       A.    No, I didn't say that.

 16       Q.    An entity that calls itself a university and

 17   refers to professors and adjunct professors could give

 18   the impression that it's a university; is that right?

 19             MS. MARTIN:  Objection; calls for

 20         speculation; lacks foundation.

 21             THE WITNESS:  I don't think so.

 22

 23   BY MS. MUELLER:

 24       Q.    And are you aware that at the time you took

 25   the Trump University course in 2009 prior to that the
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  1   New York State Education Department had been

  2   investigating Trump University for the illegal use of

  3   the name "university" in its name?

  4       A.    No, I am not.

  5       Q.    And so at the time you signed your

  6   Declaration in November of 2012, no one had told you

  7   that New York -- that the New York State Education

  8   Department had directed Mr. Trump to stop using the

  9   word "university" in the name "Trump University;" is

 10   that right?

 11       A.    No, I didn't know that.

 12             MS. MARTIN:  Objection; lacks foundation.

 13   BY MS. MUELLER:

 14       Q.    And at the time that you signed your

 15   Declaration in February of 2013, you also weren't

 16   aware, no one had told you that the New York State

 17   Education Department had directed Mr. Trump to stop

 18   using the word "university" in the name "Trump

 19   University;" is that right?

 20             MS. MARTIN:  Objection; lacks foundation.

 21             THE WITNESS:  No, I didn't know.

 22

 23   BY MS. MUELLER:

 24       Q.    And no one had told you at the time you

 25   signed your Declaration in November 2012 that the New
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Mark Covais 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Mark Covais 
Monday, April 01, 2013 7:48 PM 
Marla Rains Colic 
RE: Trump Initiative Followup 

Thank you for the recordings and following up. Sending you the virtual retreats were my pleasure! Enjoy the series and 
please let me know if you guys need anything ever! 

Thank you, 

Mark Covais 
The Trump Entrepreneur Initiative 
40 Wall Street, 32.nd Floor 
New York, NY 10005 
www.Trumplnitiative.com 

Phone: 646.810.7339 
Fax: 2.12.937.3830 
mcovais@Trumplnitiative.com 

The Trump Entrepreneur Initiative is not responsible for, and shall have no liability for any business success or failure, acts and/or 
omissions: the appropriateness of its student's business decisions; or, the use of or reliance on this information. The Trump Initiative 
does not render legal. accounting. investment or tax advice. It is your responsibility to engage appropriate professional advisors to 
evaluate the propriety of any transactioiL strategy or approach. No guarantees, promises, representations or warranties of any kind 
regarding specific or general benefits, monetary or otherwise, have been or will be made by The Trun1p Initiative, its affiliates or their 
officers, principals. representatives, agents or employees. 

From: Marla Rains Colic [mailto:mrainscolic@gmail.com] 
Sent: Sunday, March 31, 2013 10:58 AM 
To: Mark Covais 
Subject: RE: Trump Initiative Followup 

Mark, 

Bless you. What an awesome surprise!! I'll certainly soak this stuff up and I'm seriously very grateful for the gift 

Regarding the voicemails I received, I've compiled the voice recordings and attached them to this emaiL From what I can 

gather, the legal team in CA left 4 messages for me. Unfortunately, I was wrong when I told you they said they were 
from Trump. All the messages state that they are calling regarding Trump U. In any regard, here you go!! 

Marla 

Marla Rains-Colic 
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314.724.5549 

From: Mark Covais [mailto:mcovais@trumpinitiative.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, March 27, 2013 5:12PM 
To: MRAINSCOLIC@GMAIL.COM 
Subject: Trump Initiative Followup 

Hi Marla, As always it was a pleasure talking to you. Please let me know either way how you make out with the voicemail 
search. 

Please follow the link below to down load and enjoy Kevin Derrick's Commercial and Multi Family Advanced Virtual 
Retreat. let me know if you have any question opening in up or logging on. 

Cmnmerdal and Multi Family Advanced Retreat 

Thank you, 

Mark Covais 
The Trump Entrepreneur Initiative 

40 Wall Street, 32nd Floor 
New York, NY 10005 
www.Trumplnitiative.com 
Phone: 646.810.7339 
Fax: 212.937.3830 
mcovais@Trumplnitiative.com 

The Trump Entrepreneur Initiative is not responsible for, and shall have no liability for any business success or failure, acts and/or 
omissions; the appropriateness of its student's business decisions; or, the use of or reliance on this information. The Trump Initiative 
does not render legal, accounting, investment or tax advice. It is your responsibility to engage appropriate professional advisors to 
evaluate the propriety of any transaction, strategy or approach. No guarantees, promises, representations or warranties of any kind 
regarding specific or general benefits, monetary or otherwise, have been or will be made by The Trump Initiative, its affiliates or their 
officers, principals, representatives, agents or employees. 
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19

20

21
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·1· · · · · · · · ·identification.)

·2· ·(Playing Video From Thumbdrive Marked Exhibit 509.)

·3· BY MR. FORGE:

·4· · · ·Q.· ·Mr. Trump, you shot that video to promote

·5· Trump University, right?

·6· · · ·A.· ·Yes.· A long time ago.

·7· · · ·Q.· ·So you made that video to influence people

·8· to enroll in Trump University?

·9· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

10· · · ·Q.· ·Now, at one point you mentioned that there

11· would be professors and adjunct professors.· Do you

12· have any idea what, if any, criteria determined who

13· would be a professor versus an adjunct professor?

14· · · ·A.· ·Well, I see resumes, but mostly that was up

15· to Michael Sexton, who was the president who ran

16· Trump University.

17· · · ·Q.· ·So that's not a decision process you were

18· involved in, who would be a professor versus --

19· · · ·A.· ·I would see resumes, but I told him, you

20· know, I want very good people, yes.

21· · · ·Q.· ·But in terms of determining this person

22· will be a professor versus an adjunct professor --

23· · · ·A.· ·No, that was not me.

24· · · ·Q.· ·Do you know if any of the adjunct

25· professors at Trump University were ever promoted to
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·1· · · ·A.· ·Right.

·2· · · ·Q.· ·Are there -- do any of those names, have

·3· you had a recognition of any of those names?· Any of

·4· those names come to mind now as we sit here?

·5· · · ·A.· ·No.

·6· · · ·Q.· ·So same memory or lack thereof, whatever

·7· your answers were still stand?

·8· · · ·A.· ·It's a long time.

·9· · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Just off the record for a

10· second.

11· · · · · · (A discussion was held off the record.)

12· · · · · · MR. FORGE:· If we could please mark this

13· next exhibit as 510.

14· · · · · · · · ·(Exhibits 510, 511 and 512 were

15· · · · · · · · ·marked for identification.)

16· BY MR. FORGE:

17· · · ·Q.· ·Mr. Trump, starting with Exhibit 510, does

18· that appear to be a true copy of a special invitation

19· from Donald J. Trump, and an attached letter that

20· begins Dear Friend?

21· · · ·A.· ·It does seem to be.· I don't remember this,

22· but it does seem to be, yes.

23· · · ·Q.· ·And that appears to be your signature at

24· the bottom of that invitation on the second page?

25· · · ·A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · ·Q.· ·And this invitation is all part of the

·2· promotion of Trump University; is that fair to say?

·3· · · ·A.· ·It looks like it.

·4· · · ·Q.· ·So again, this is something that was

·5· intended to influence people to enroll in Trump

·6· University?

·7· · · ·A.· ·It would look that way, yes.

·8· · · ·Q.· ·Were you personally aware of any sort of

·9· proven real estate system that students would be

10· learning at Trump University?

11· · · · · · MR. PETROCELLI:· The question is vague.

12· · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Well, what I did is we gave a

13· lot of big packages out.· Again, it's a long time

14· ago, but -- and including books that I've written,

15· et cetera, et cetera.· You have the information.

16· · · · · · But there is -- you know, there are methods

17· that have been very successful for me, and that's

18· what I would talk about.· And, you know, starting

19· with location.· Starting with, you know, various

20· forms of debt.· We talked about the kind of debt you

21· can put on properties.

22· · · · · · And we talked about a lot of different

23· things.· You can look at the books.· But I've

24· always -- and very strongly told them to stress

25· location.
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·1· ·promotional campaign focused almost exclusively on Trump

·2· ·and targeted his biggest fans?

·3· ·BY MR. KIRMAN:

·4· · · ·Q· · Let's just focus exclusively on Trump and then

·5· ·we'll go to the biggest fans later.

·6· · · ·A· · Well, there's a lot of statements in his

·7· ·advertising which describe who he is as a man.· I think

·8· ·even in the ads I used in my study, there's an example

·9· ·of that.· I could go to that and read it.· You know, I'm

10· ·paraphrasing, he's invested in buildings, made a lot of

11· ·money.· He's been around -- you know, so they're linked

12· ·to his personal characteristic.· I wish -- let me find

13· ·my ad.· I think it's the very last page.

14· · · · · · Yeah.· Here we go.· "He's the most celebrated

15· ·entrepreneur on earth.· He's earned more in a day than

16· ·most people do in a lifetime.· He's living a life men

17· ·and women only dream about and now he's ready to share

18· ·with Americans like you the Trump process for investing

19· ·in today's once-in-a-lifetime real estate market."

20· · · · · · So that's a link to Mr. Trump in describing who

21· ·he is.· Another element, not particularly of this ad but

22· ·in other ads, "the next best thing to being his

23· ·apprentice."· The offer to be this man's apprentice, to

24· ·work with him and be his stead.· This is a tie into who

25· ·he is as an individual.
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·1· · · ·A· · Yes.

·2· · · · · · MR. PFEFFERBAUM:· Objection.· Vague and

·3· ·ambiguous.

·4· ·BY MR. KIRMAN:

·5· · · ·Q· · Real estate is a theme; correct?

·6· · · · · · MR. PFEFFERBAUM:· Objection to form.

·7· · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Sure.· For example "buy real

·8· ·estate from banks."

·9· ·BY MR. KIRMAN:

10· · · ·Q· · Foreclosure investing; correct?

11· · · · · · MR. PFEFFERBAUM:· Objection.· What's the

12· ·question?

13· ·BY MR. KIRMAN:

14· · · ·Q· · Foreclosure investing is a theme of this

15· ·advertisement; correct?

16· · · ·A· · To the extent it says, "Find free foreclosures

17· ·in your area."· And I think it says that later in the

18· ·text if I am not mistaken.

19· · · ·Q· · Turning someone into a successful real estate

20· ·investor; correct?

21· · · ·A· · Yeah, but that's -- again, some of these are

22· ·intertwined with Mr. Trump.· So "I can turn anyone into

23· ·a successful real estate investor, including you,"

24· ·"learn from Donald Trump's handpicked expert," "how you

25· ·can profit from the largest real estate liquidation in
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·1· ·history," as I said before, "learn my strategies and

·2· ·techniques," so some of this is intertwined.

·3· · · ·Q· · There's intertwined with Mr. Trump, but there's

·4· ·also other aspects to the advertising; correct?

·5· · · ·A· · Sure.· I mean, one would be a quote from Robert

·6· ·Mulack, "The training and coaching I received from Trump

·7· ·University is priceless."

·8· · · ·Q· · You also --

·9· · · ·A· · I'm sorry.· I didn't finish the quote.· "I

10· ·closed on my first investment property and earned

11· ·$50,000."

12· · · ·Q· · Somebody might want to replicate that

13· ·individual's success if they read this advertisement;

14· ·right?

15· · · · · · MR. PFEFFERBAUM:· Object to form.· Lacks

16· ·foundation.

17· · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Right.· But they most probably

18· ·would have to attend Trump University to do it.· I mean,

19· ·this is a function --

20· ·BY MR. KIRMAN:

21· · · ·Q· · Is it your testimony that Trump University is

22· ·the only real estate investing seminar in the market?

23· · · ·A· · Well, but let's read the quote again.· "The

24· ·training and coaching I received from Trump U is

25· ·priceless."· So what Bob Mulack is saying is, "I went to
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Deposition of Paul Canup MAKAEFF, et al. vs. TRUMP UNIVERSITY, LCC, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 1

                 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

                SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

  TARLA MAKAEFF, SONNY LOW, J.R. EVERETT  )
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  OBERKROM, and BRANDON KELLER,           ) Case No.
  individually,                           ) 10-cv-00940 GPC
                                          ) (WVG)
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                                          )
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  TRUMP UNIVERSITY, LLC (aka TRUMP        )
  Entrepreneur Initiative), a New York    )
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Deposition of Paul Canup MAKAEFF, et al. vs. TRUMP UNIVERSITY, LCC, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 25

 09:30:50  1          Q   Besides those items that you just listed, the

 09:30:54  2     knowledge about acquiring real estate, buying and

 09:30:56  3     selling real estate, generating income, and wanting to

 09:31:01  4     learn from the best and the quality of the

 09:31:05  5     Trump University brand, were there any other reasons

 09:31:09  6     that you attended the preview seminar?

 09:31:13  7          A   Not that I can think of.

 09:31:22  8          Q   Did Donald Trump ever make any

 09:31:23  9     representations to you, either in writing or on the

 09:31:28 10     CDs, about what would be taught at the

 09:31:32 11     Trump University preview seminar?

 09:31:36 12          A   I don't remember any details.  Certainly he

 09:31:38 13     didn't give any details about that.  But he always

 09:31:44 14     stressed education and learning from the best.

 09:32:05 15          Q   And this is a slightly different question,

 09:32:07 16     but what information from Trump University did you

 09:32:11 17     rely on when you made the decision to attend the

 09:32:14 18     preview seminar or what representations had

 09:32:23 19     Trump University made you to, if any, that you relied

 09:32:25 20     on when you decided to attend the preview seminar?

 09:32:27 21              MS. ECK:  Objection.  It's vague as to

 09:32:29 22     whether in writing or advertisements or otherwise.

 09:32:39 23     BY MR. MORRIS:

 09:32:39 24          Q   You can answer.  If there were any

 09:32:41 25     representations made to you either in writing or
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Deposition of Paul Canup MAKAEFF, et al. vs. TRUMP UNIVERSITY, LCC, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 43

 10:00:12  1     BY MR. MORRIS:

 10:00:12  2          Q   Sure.  Did anyone tell you, for example, that

 10:00:15  3     Donald Trump would be writing the curriculum for the

 10:00:23  4     wealth preservation seminar that was part of the

 10:00:25  5     Gold Elite package?

 10:00:27  6              MS. ECK:  Same objections.

 10:00:29  7              THE WITNESS:  No.  As a matter of fact, they

 10:00:31  8     emphasized that -- that Donald Trump's involvement was

 10:00:34  9     selecting people that were experienced in their -- in

 10:00:40 10     specific specialties for real estate investing and

 10:00:46 11     that it was their experiences that were being

 10:00:53 12     presented.

 10:01:11 13     BY MR. MORRIS:

 10:01:11 14          Q   When you say, "their experiences being

 10:01:12 15     presented," what -- what do you mean by that?  Like it

 10:01:13 16     would be the instructor for each specific seminar who

 10:01:16 17     would then be teaching based on their expertise at

 10:01:20 18     that seminar?

 10:01:21 19          A   Yes.  I -- that he had selected experts in

 10:01:28 20     the field that he believed would be able to present

 10:01:35 21     that specific specialty in real estate; that it was

 10:01:40 22     their experience and that it was -- it was their

 10:01:54 23     experiences, their expertise that was being presented.

 10:02:02 24          Q   During the three-day program, was there any

 10:02:07 25     additional explanation of the selection or vetting

Exhibit 10 
page 62

Case 3:13-cv-02519-GPC-WVG   Document 221-2   Filed 06/03/16   Page 62 of 200



Deposition of Paul Canup MAKAEFF, et al. vs. TRUMP UNIVERSITY, LCC, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 44

 10:02:11  1     process for the instructors or mentors that we talked

 10:02:15  2     about a few minutes ago?  Did Mr. Martin make any

 10:02:17  3     further representations about that?

 10:02:19  4          A   Not that I recall other than Donald Trump's

 10:02:23  5     vetting process was very thorough.  No details on

 10:02:30  6     that.

 10:02:44  7          Q   Do you feel based on listening to Gerald

 10:02:48  8     Martin present at the preview in the three-day seminar

 10:02:52  9     that he was an expert in creative financing

 10:02:53 10     techniques?

 10:02:55 11          A   Absolutely.

 10:02:56 12              MS. ECK:  Objection.  Calls for speculation.

 10:02:59 13              THE WITNESS:  Absolutely.

 10:03:02 14     BY MR. MORRIS:

 10:03:02 15          Q   Do you feel that Gerald Martin was an expert

 10:03:05 16     in any other real estate techniques, and if so, what

 10:03:09 17     were those?

 10:03:10 18              MS. ECK:  Objection.  Calls for speculation.

 10:03:17 19              THE WITNESS:  I think Gerald Martin had a

 10:03:19 20     fairly broad real estate background.  His specialty

 10:03:28 21     was creative financing, and he presented some ways of

 10:03:31 22     doing that.  However, he went into details of some

 10:03:41 23     specific real estate purchases and how that was done

 10:03:43 24     and how he did it.  He described how he walked through

 10:03:46 25     properties, how he walked around properties, how he
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Deposition of Paul Canup MAKAEFF, et al. vs. TRUMP UNIVERSITY, LCC, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 226

 16:27:08  1     BY MS. ECK:

 16:27:08  2          Q   All right.  Mr. Canup, the first document is

 16:27:10  3     a letter from the State Education Department in

 16:27:14  4     New York to Donald Trump in May 2005.  It states on

 16:27:25  5     the second page, third paragraph from the bottom,

 16:27:27  6     "After reviewing the information included on your

 16:27:30  7     website about the purpose and operation of

 16:27:33  8     Trump University, and based on the relevant laws and

 16:27:35  9     regulations cited above, I must ask you to discontinue

 16:27:40 10     the use of the name Trump University.  Written

 16:27:43 11     confirmation that you have discontinued the use of

 16:27:45 12     this name is requested."

 16:27:48 13              At the time you took that course in New York,

 16:27:51 14     were you aware that the Department of Education had

 16:27:54 15     told Donald Trump that it was unlawful to use the name

 16:28:01 16     Trump University in New York?

 16:28:02 17              MR. MORRIS:  Objection.  Assumes facts.

 16:28:03 18     Lacks foundation.

 16:28:05 19              THE WITNESS:  No.

 16:28:06 20     BY MS. ECK:

 16:28:06 21          Q   Okay.  In the second letter dated January

 16:28:09 22     4th, 2010 from the State Education Department in

 16:28:12 23     New York to Donald Trump, it states on the second

 16:28:23 24     page, third paragraph from the bottom, "Based on the

 16:28:27 25     relevant laws and regulations cited above, I must ask
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Deposition of Paul Canup MAKAEFF, et al. vs. TRUMP UNIVERSITY, LCC, et al.

KRAMM COURT REPORTING Page: 227

 16:28:30  1     you to discontinue the use of the name

 16:28:33  2     Trump University.  If your organization wishes to

 16:28:35  3     pursue degree authority in New York State, I refer you

 16:28:38  4     to the website of this office."

 16:28:42  5              The next paragraph states, "Without following

 16:28:44  6     the appropriate protocol, Trump University has no

 16:28:47  7     legal status as a university in New York State.

 16:28:50  8     Consequently, I ask for your written assurance that

 16:28:53  9     the organization will cease and desist immediately

 16:28:56 10     from operating any aspect of Trump University in

 16:29:01 11     connection with a New York state address."

 16:29:03 12              Were you aware that the New York Department

 16:29:04 13     of Education had informed Donald Trump and

 16:29:10 14     Trump University that its use of the name

 16:29:12 15     Trump University was unlawful in New York?

 16:29:14 16              MR. MORRIS:  Objection.  Lacks foundation.

 16:29:16 17     Assumes facts.

 16:29:19 18              THE WITNESS:  Is the word "unlawful" in here?

 16:29:21 19     I guess it's based on relevant laws.

 16:29:25 20     BY MS. ECK:

 16:29:25 21          Q   Correct.

 16:29:28 22              MR. MORRIS:  I'll object.  That's

 16:29:29 23     argumentative.

 16:29:32 24              THE WITNESS:  I was not aware.

 16:29:32 25     ///
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·1· ·today?

·2· · · · · · · MR. FORGE:· Same objection.

·3· ·BY MR. KIRMAN:

·4· · · · ·Q· · Just a list.

·5· · · · ·A· · I can't give you a complete answer right now.

·6· ·What I can tell you is that Donald J. Trump is a multi-

·7· ·billionaire in real estate.· When the ads said, "Come

·8· ·for free, come to listen to me, and one of my

·9· ·handpicked instructors," I'm pretty sure that was in

10· ·the ad there too, "will make it worth, you know, your

11· ·while to come and come to one of my workshops."· That

12· ·was it.

13· · · · · · · Donald J. Trump.· He's just like Walt Disney.

14· ·If Walt Disney says, you know, I'm going to open

15· ·Disneyland, Walt Disney means to me in entertainment as

16· ·Donald J. Trump means to me in terms of real estate.

17· ·That's all I can say.· And that is my main complaint

18· ·from number one, step one.

19· ·BY MR. KIRMAN:

20· · · · ·Q· · Sir, you're not -- with all due -- I'm asking

21· ·just a very specific question.· You understand that

22· ·you're a plaintiff, you're actually the named plaintiff

23· ·in this lawsuit against Donald J. Trump and

24· ·Trump University, correct?

25· · · · · · · And the lawsuit is filed because you, as a
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·1· · · ·A.· I don't know if that's the same as the other one,

·2· but, yeah, that's me.

·3· · · ·Q.· Sure.· No, I -- I'll represent that.· So

·4· that's -- you recognize your voice?

·5· · · ·A.· Yes.

·6· · · ·Q.· And that's you speaking?

·7· · · · · · · · Okay.· And, again, you were just following

·8· what you were told to say in this recording, right?· That

·9· Donald Trump had personally picked you?

10· · · ·A.· That's correct.

11· · · ·Q.· And just to follow up, you've -- you've never met

12· Trump, right?

13· · · ·A.· No.

14· · · ·Q.· So it's not true that he picked you?

15· · · · · · · · MR. MORRIS:· Objection, lacks foundation,

16· calls for speculation.

17· · · ·Q.· (BY MS. JENSEN)· Correct?· He did not --

18· · · ·A.· Yeah, it's true he didn't handpick me, no.

19· · · ·Q.· Okay.

20· · · · · · · · MS. JENSEN:· We're going to now play a audio

21· recording that will be provided to the court reporter via

22· thumb drive, the Bates is TU 123674, and it will be

23· Exhibit No. 24.· We're going to start at 20 minutes and

24· 20 -- 20 more -- 20 minutes and 24 seconds.

25· · · · · · · · (Audio playing.)
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'Rich Dad' seminars deceptive: Marketplace

CBC News Posted: Jan 29, 2010 9:35 AM ET Last Updated: Feb 01, 2010 1:33 PM ET

A high-profile workshop series that purports to teach Canadians how to invest in real estate and stocks

uses deceptive tactics, gives questionable advice and focuses more on getting participants to pay for

more seminars, according to CBC-TV's Marketplace.

The workshops, called "Learn to get rich," are held regularly across Canada and are connected to

financial guru Robert Kiyosaki, who licensed his name to Whitney International, which runs the series.

Whitney recently changed its name to Tigrent Learning Inc.

The U.S. -based Kiyosaki exploded onto the self-help scene 12 years ago with his book Rich Dad, Poor

Dad and has since become one of the best-selling personal finance authors on the planet.

But even Kiyosaki says he isn't pleased with how the licensee runs the seminars.

Courses cost up to $45,000

The seminars range from free one-day introductions to three-day seminars that cost $500 to longer

courses priced between $12,000 and $45,000. Critics say the marketing of the series is aimed at

upselling participants on the more expensive next level.

At a $500 seminar in Kitchener, Ont, Marketplace found participants who felt pressured into raising their
credit-card limits right on the spot. They were even given scripts instructing them on how to ask for limits

of $100,000.

Others at the Kitchener session said they were bullied into keeping silent if they had doubts. Those who

persevered in their questioning would be ejected from the seminar.

And always, there was a push to buy into the next level.

"There is no way you're going to learn everything you need to know about real estate in three

days," trainer Marc Mousseau told the Kitchener group. "Do we agree?"

He then described the "advanced training curriculum," adding: "If you think it's too expensive, come and

tell me, and I'll ask you to leave."

Mousseau told participants they had to get higher credit-card limits if they expected financial success.

He challenged the audience to go big.

"Ask for $100,000," he said. "Who's willing to ask for $100,000?"

Suki Deal thought the organizers tried to intimidate the audience.

"It's a three-day sales pitch, basically," Deal said. "You're not going to learn anything. But I think most

people were a little afraid to say anything. It was very intimidating. The organizers would come up to you

and stand behind you, over you and there was no talking allowed."
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Exaggerated claims

When one woman voiced concerns about the high credit limit, Mousseau replied: "Do what I tell you to

do. Do it,"

After the seminar, participant Danuta Skrzypinski said she wanted nothing more to do with Robert

Kiyosaki.

"I would like to have my money back," she said.

Marketplace also discovered that claims by at least one trainer were exaggerated. The trainer said he

made millions on a mobile home park in Saskatchewan — a park that turned out to be non-existent.

Bob Aaron, a Toronto real estate lawyer, said workshops like these are not only a waste of people's

money, they're also teaching people techniques that normally don't work.

For instance, Mousseau told people who are interested in buying real estate to simply start knocking on

doors and asking homeowners if they want to sell.

Aaron, who's handled thousands of real estate files, said some of Mousseau's claims were just plain

unusual, including his advice that if you buy 10 condos, a developer will give you two for free.

"They're not going to give you two for free," Aaron said. "I've never seen that happen.

"I'm very angry that somebody like this is pawning off this as advice, that he's getting paid for, to the
Canadian public."

The company now known as Tigrent Learning has been offering get-rich workshops for more than 10

years, and has a history of run-ins with regulators and unhappy customers,

Guru not pleased

Marketplace caught up with Kiyosaki at a public talk in Vancouver. He said he is disturbed by the

growing criticism of the workshops and intially tried to deflect questions from Marketplace.

"There's lots of these events all over the country," he said. "I have had some complaints from a few

instructors, about some instructors. It costs money to go through those programs. So there's people that

do go through our programs and are very happy. There's always going to be dissatisfied customers."

But when Marketplace presented him with examples of the bullying tactics, he confessed his own

frustrations, saying for years he's been asking the licensee to improve its strategy.

"I am more upset than you are. I really am," he said. "1, look, I agree with you that that's not good

professional training. I will look into it, that's all I'm saying."

Marketplace is broadcast at 8:30 p.m. Friday, 9 p.m. in Newfoundland.

Explore CBC

CBC Home TV Radio News
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Only Three Months Until the RedState Gathering in Denver! CLICK HERE for Info a

Share on Facebook + 404 SHARES

Trump Campaign 
Releases a Video Defending Trump University… that is Itself a Scam

By: Leon H. Wolf (Diary)  |  June 1st, 2016 at 04:01 PM  |  

RESIZE: AAA

So the Trump campaign has released a video with purported testimonials from Trump University students which I guess is 
supposed to show that Trump University was not a scam. This video features three people – none of whom have ever bought or 
sold real estate for a living. One of them appears to be a professional testimonial-giver for seminars, one appears to give these 
kinds of seminars for himself, and one of them has an ongoing business and personal relationship with the Trump family, who 
have allowed him to sell his protein water on a number of their properties.

I’m not really sure who this is supposed to persuade, other than the people who would be susceptible to taking the course in the 
first place. One of the defining characteristics of these scam seminars is that they can always find people who will star in exactly 
these sorts of videos who will tell you how great the program has been for them. Anyone who’s seen one of these pitches knows 
this.

A d

Property Video
Sell Your Properties Quicker With A Video From Your 
Photos, Call Us! 

In any event, here is the video, in case you care to see it.

+ LOGIN REGISTER REDSTATE GATHERING SUBSCRIBE
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...

Note that the first woman featured in the video, one Michelle Gunn, appears to be a professional testimonial giver for these self-
help workshop scams:

20/39 ...

The first gentlemen who is featured in the video is Kent Moyer. Kent Moyer is not in real estate at all, as his rather detailed 
website attests. Rather, he seems himself to be involved primarily in selling the kind of “coaching” and “seminars” that are 
pretty similar on their face to Trump University. I would also note per his bio that he appears to have gone to Wharton, and 
judging by the rest of his bio he’s about the same age as Trump, but I digress.

Even if people find real value in the consulting services that Mr. Moyer provides, he by his own admission has never actually 
made money selling real estate, which is what Trump University is supposed to teach you how to do.

Another of the persons featured on the video is Casey Hoban, who is also not today involved in the business of selling or buying 
real estate. He claims in the video that he was, either in Florida or South Carolina (he is not really clear) but one wonders if the 
returns from these real estate deals were so “incalculable” why he is in the business of selling protein water (instead of real 
estate, which is booming right now).

While Mr. Hoban does not appear to be in the business of buying and selling real estate, he does appear to be in some sort of 
business and personal relationship with Donald Trump and the Trump family through his protein water company, and a 
supporter of Trump’s.

trimino protein water; Trump@ National Charlotte NC Golf

Casey Hoban
@CaseyHoban

 Follow
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trimino protein water in Trump Tower Deli NY!
Thank u Eric Trump & Family !
trimino in Texas Health Resources Hosp 
8:44 PM - 20 Apr 2016 

1 6

Casey Hoban
@CaseyHoban

 Follow

Proud to stand in front of the EricTrumpFdn@  Surgery & 
Intensive Care Unit at StJude@  Children's Research Hospital! 
12:05 PM - 8 Apr 2016 

1,850 3,893

Eric Trump
EricTrump@

 Follow
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Only Three Months Until the RedState Gathering in Denver! CLICK HERE for Info a

Share on Facebook + 404 SHARES

trimino protein water Miami Florida now at Trump National Doral 
Miami Golf Course "BLUE MONSTER" Thank U Eric Trump 
1:24 PM - 10 Feb 2016 

6

Casey Hoban
@CaseyHoban

 Follow

I could go on and on but eventually I got bored of going through this guy’s twitter feed, which is 100% about his protein water 
company.

These are the three people the found, out of the 40,000 people who (allegedly) came through Trump University who could talk 
about their great experiences.

Notably, not one of these people is currently in the business of buying or selling real estate, or can offer any proof that Trump 
University made them successful in this endeavor, which is what it was designed to do.
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